
Lewisville Town Council 
Regular Meeting Agenda  
April 10, 2025 – 6:00 PM 

Lewisville Town Hall 1st Floor Council Chambers 
6510 Shallowford Road 

1. Call to Order:
A. Roll Call
B. Invocation – Council Member Ken Sadler
C. Pledge of Allegiance – Mayor Pro Tem Melissa Hunt
D. Adoption of Agenda

2. Consent Agenda
A. Resolution 2025-011– Financial statements for eight months ended February 28, 2025 (Attachment #1)

B. Approval of Agenda Briefing minutes – March 6, 2025 (Attachment #2)

C. Approval of Regular Meeting minutes – March 13, 2025 (Attachment #3)

3. Introductions, Recognitions, Presentations and/or Proclamations
A. Recognition

i. Chad Conger, Willow Run MSD Board
ii. Holli Conger, Public Art Committee
iii. Tom Lawson, Planning Board
iv. Debbie Stokes, Parks & Recreation Committee

B. Presentations
i. Sheriff’s Office
ii. 2025-2026 Budget message – Town Manager Tolbert

4. Public Forum
A. Residents should register with the Town Clerk and limit their comments to three (3) minutes.
B. Written comments are also available.

5. New Business
A. Ordinance 2025-008 – Amending Budget Ordinance 2024-001 – Paving - $78,760 (Attachment #4)

B. Resolution 2025-012 – Award paving contract to Yadkin Valley Paving, Inc. - $488,000 (Attachment #5)

C. Resolution 2025-013 – Personnel Policy (Attachment #6)

D. Resolution – Opposing changes to local planning and zoning by the North Carolina General Assembly

6. Administrative Reports
A. Upcoming events and closings

i. Town Offices closed for Easter observance, April 18
ii. Bulky item pickup, April 28

iii. UDO public engagement session, May 14, 5:30-7:30 PM, Town Hall
B. Clerk report

i. Budget work sessions
a. April 14, April 21, April 24 (after briefing), May 15

ii. May agenda briefing, April 24, 6 PM
iii. Board & Committee Collaboration Session – May 28, 5:30-6:30 PM, Town Hall
iv. Volunteer Appreciation Event – May 28, 6:30 PM, Town Hall



7. For the Good of the Order
A. Public Comments

i. Residents should limit their comments to three (3) minutes.
ii. Written comment forms are also available.

B. Council Comments

8. Adjournment



DRAFT

Attachment #1



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



March 6, 2025 

Lewisville Town Council 
Briefing and Action Meeting Minutes 

March 6, 2025 – 6:00 PM 
Lewisville Town Hall 2nd Floor Conference Room 

6510 Shallowford Road 

1. Call to Order:
A. Mayor Horn opened the meeting at 6:00 PM. In attendance were Mayor Mike Horn, Mayor Pro

Tem Melissa Hunt and Council Members Ivan Huffman, Monte Long and Jane Welch.  Also
attending were Town Manager Stacy Tolbert, Town Clerk Dora Moore, Finance Director Pam
Orrell, Public Works Director Jon Hanna, Planning Director Lynn Cochran and Town Attorney Elliot
Fus.

B. Adoption of Agenda – Council Member Huffman moved to approve the agenda as amended to
include appointment of CityVision voting delegate. The motion was seconded by Council Member
Long and approved unanimously.

2. Items Requiring Council Direction
A. Board and committee report clarification – Council shared their desire to have committee chairs

attend annual Council Retreat and give a report. However, board and committee chairs have a
standing invitation to make presentations to Council as the board or committee.

B. Shred event – The Environmental Conservation and Sustainability Committee was requested to
determine if there is a community need for the Town to host a shred event.

C. Spring 2026 community event – Manager Tolbert shared an idea to hold a 2026 community event.
It is proposed the event would combine several committee events such as Earth Day, Clean Sweep
and more. The Town desires to see successful community events and hopes combing events
would be beneficial. Council consensus was given to plan a 2026 event working with committees
on logistics.

D. Artwork showing request – Clerk Moore shared a request by the Lewisville Garden Club to
showcase their annual Art in Bloom at Mary Alice Warren Community Center April 23-25. Council
consensus was to approve the request. Council also directed that these requests be reviewed and
approved by staff, instead of Council, once approved by Public Art Committee.

E. CityVision voting delegate – Council consensus was for Mayor Horn to serve as the CityVision
voting delegate. 

3. Items Requiring Action at Briefing
A. Council vote to fill unexpired term of Council Member Julia Puckett – Mayor Horn shared the

process of which the Council subcommittee received and recommended candidates for the
unexpired term of Council Member Julia Puckett. The subcommittee consisted of Mayor Horn,
Mayor Pro Tem Hunt and Council Member Huffman. Council voted by ballot and Tom Lawson was
selected by a vote of 4-2 to fill the unexpired term.

Attachment #2



 

           March 6, 2025 
      

B. I’m One of the Reasons Lewisville is a Great Place to Live nomination – Mayor Horn recommended 
Barbara Campbell receive the I’m One of the Reasons Lewisville is a Great Place to Live award. He 
touted her support of the Town by serving on Town committees including Community Center and 
Public Art. Council consensus was to award this at the April meeting. (Nomination form is herein 

incorporated into the minutes.) 
C. Roundabout art placement – Manager Tolbert shared that after additional discussions among 

staff and logistical concerns, staff recommends placing the potentially donated artwork in the 
Lewisville-Vienna/Robinhood Road roundabout. It would be easier to place the art in a newly 
formed area rather than retrofitting an existing area and extends art to another area of Town. 
Staff will discuss this more with the artist and donator in the coming weeks. Council consensus 
was to pursue this idea.  

 
4. Administrative Reports 

A. Town Manager 
i. Classification and pay study – Manager Tolbert will share ideas with Council during budget 

work sessions related to the compensation and pay study. 
ii. Great Wagon Road update – North Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT) awarded 

the Great Wagon Road project to Branch Civil, who recently completed the Town’s Gateway 
project. The bid was $19 million which is under the engineer estimate of $25 million. 
Anticipated completion is March 2029. Although this is a NCDOT project, staff will 
communicate the project to residents as best as they can.  

iii. Clerk retirement – Manager Tolbert shared that Town Clerk Dora Moore has announced her 
retirement effective June 1, 2025. A formal employment notice will be posted next week. 
Manager Tolbert hopes to have a 4-6 week overlap whereby Clerk Moore can orientate the 
new Town Clerk. 

B. Clerk 
i. Jack Warren Park Dedication, March 22, 9-11 AM 

ii. Creek Week, March 22-31 
iii. Clean Sweep, March 29 
iv. Earth Day, April 12, 9 AM-2 PM 

C. Public Works Director 
i. Paving update – The contractor is finalizing crack sealing and speed hump repaving in the 

community. Mr. Hanna is developing a paving bid request for the Lewisville Trails 
neighborhood. 

ii. Ridgecrest tree replacement update – Tree replacements in the Ridgecrest subdivision have 
gone well; however, weather has delayed new tree plantings.  

iii. Public Works facility update – At the new Public Works facility, staff has stripped floors, 
etched concrete, repainted walls, installed flooring in the locker and rest rooms and more. 
Currently, the pricing for HVAC, plumbing and electrical is being finalized. It was noted that 
estimates have fell within the designated budget. 

D. Planning Director – Mr. Cochran reported all UDO chapter updates are to be completed by the 
end of March with presentation to Planning Board in April, a resident engagement meeting at 
Mary Alice Warren Community Center April 22 and recommendations to Council in June.  

 
5. Tentative Agenda Items for Regular Meeting on March 13, 2025 

A. Consent Agenda 
i. Resolution 2025-009– Financial statements for seven months ended January 31, 2025  
ii. Approval of Council Retreat minutes – January 31, 2025 and February 1, 2025  
iii. Approval of Agenda Briefing minutes – February 6, 2025  
iv. Approval of Regular Meeting minutes – February 13, 2025  



 

           March 6, 2025 
      

B. Introductions, Recognitions, Presentations and/or Proclamations 
i. Presentations 

a. Sheriff’s Office  
1. Introduction of new officer 

C. Old Business  
D. Oath of Office 
E. Appointments 

i. Boards 
a. Planning (Appoint 3) 
b. Willow Run Municipal Service District 

i. Area 3 (Appoint 1) 
ii. At-large (Appoint 1) 

c. Zoning Board of Adjustment (Appoint 1) 
ii. Committees 

a. Parks & Recreation (Appoint 1) 
b. Public Art (Appoint 7) 

F. New Business 
i. Resolution 2025-010 – 2024-2025 Audit services contract with Gibson & Company, PA  
ii. Council committee appointments 

a. Piedmont Triad Regional Council (PTRC) Alternate 
b. Special Projects Review Committee  
 

6. For the Good of the Order  
A. Mayor Pro Tem Hunt shared recent discussions Council Member Welch and herself had with 

Reagan and West Forsyth high schools related to youth mentorship. A listening session will be 
held with local school leaders in March. 

B. Currently, seventy response have been received for the resident survey. Council shared ideas of 
organizations who could help promote the survey.  

C. Mayor Pro Tem Hunt requested discussion about walking dogs at Shallowford Square be done at 
the April briefing.  

 
7. Adjournment – Council Member Huffman moved to adjourn the meeting at 8:00 PM.  The motion 

was seconded by Council Member Welch and approved unanimously.  
 
 
 

____________________________________ 
ATTEST:       Mike Horn, Mayor  
 
 
____________________________ 
Dora K. Moore, Town Clerk 



March 13, 2025 

Lewisville Town Council 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
March 13, 2025 – 6:00 PM 

Lewisville Town Hall Council Chambers 
6510 Shallowford Road 

1. Call to Order:
A. Mayor Horn opened the meeting at 6:00 PM. In attendance were Mayor Mike Horn, Mayor Pro

Tem Melissa Hunt, and Council Members Ivan Huffman, Monte Long and Jane Welch.  Also
attending were Town Manager Stacy Tolbert, Town Clerk Dora Moore, Finance Director Pam
Orrell, Public Works Director Jon Hanna, Planning Director Lynn Cochran, Communications
Specialist Veronica Leasure and Attorney Elliot Fuss. Council Member Ken Sadler was absent.

B. Invocation – Council Member Jane Welch
C. Pledge of Allegiance – Mayor Mike Horn
D. Adoption of Agenda – Council Member Huffman moved to approve the agenda. The motion was

seconded by Council Member Long and approved unanimously.

2. Consent Agenda
A. Resolution 2025-009– Financial statements for seven months ended January 31, 2025
B. Approval of Council Retreat minutes – January 31, 2025 and February 1, 2025
C. Approval of Agenda Briefing minutes – February 6, 2025
D. Approval of Regular Meeting minutes – February 13, 2025

Council Member Welch moved to approve the consent agenda items. The motion was seconded by 
Council Member Long and approved unanimously. (Resolution 2025-009 is herein incorporated by reference into 

the minutes.) 

3. Introductions, Recognitions, Presentations and/or Proclamations
A. Presentations

i. I’m One of the Reasons Lewisville is a Great Place to Live – Mayor Horn presented I’m One of
the Reasons Lewisville is a Great Place to Live to Barbara Campbell. Mayor Horn shared that Ms.
Campbell has served the Town on the Community Center and Public Art committees. He also
touted her dedication, and her husband Bob’s, to bring the craft culture to the town.

ii. Sheriff’s Office – No report

4. Public Forum – No one spoke

5. Oath of Office

Tom Lawson was administered the oath of office for Council Member by Town Clerk Dora Moore. 

Mayor Horn shared that former Council Member Julia Puckett submitted her resignation effective 
February 1, 2025. Ms. Puckett performed excellent service to the Town. To fill the vacant Council seat, 
Council Members submitted names for consideration by a subcommittee consisting of Mayor Horn, 
Mayor Pro Tem Hunt and Council Member Huffman. Four names were submitted to the Council for 
their consideration and Tom Lawson was selected.  

Attachment #3



 

March 13, 2025 

6. Appointments 
A. Boards 

i. Planning (Appoint 4) 

 
a.   Philip May, Michael Mulligan and Sarah Van Huis were appointed to full-terms on the 

Planning Board. 
b. Don McClain was appointed to fill an unexpired term on the Planning Board.  
 

ii. Willow Run Municipal Service District 
a. Area 3 (Appoint 1) 

 
Jeffrey Rawls was appointed to serve Area 3 of the Willow Run MSD.  
 

b. At-large (Appoint 1) 

 
Nelson Fulcher was appointed to serve At-Large for the Willow Run MSD. 
 
 
 
 



 

March 13, 2025 

B. Zoning Board of Adjustment (Appoint 1) 

 
Ken Wernick was appointed to serve on the Zoning Board of Adjustment. 
 

B. Committees 
A. Parks & Recreation (Appoint 1) 

 
Billy Carter Jr. was appointed to fill the unexpired term on the Parks & Recreation 
Committee.  
 

B. Public Art (Appoint 7) 

 
John Armbruster, Barbara Campbell, Elizabeth Miller, Deidre Mullen, Sarah Reece, Daniel 
Robinson and Rebecca Scherbak were appointed to the Public Art Committee.  
 

7. New Business 
A. Resolution 2025-010 – 2024-2025 Audit services contract with Gibson & Company, PA – Mayor 

Pro Tem Hunt moved to approve Resolution 2025-010. The motion was seconded by Council 
Member Long and motion passed unanimously. (Resolution 2025-004 herein incorporated by reference into 

the minutes.) 



 

March 13, 2025 

B. Ordinance 2025-007 – Amending Public Art Advisory Committee Charter – The proposed changes 
to the Public Art Advisory Committee charter is to eliminate staggered terms. Council Member 
Huffman moved to approve Ordinance 2025-007. The motion was seconded by Council Member 
Welch and motion passed unanimously.  (Ordinance 2025-007 is herein incorporated by reference into the 

minutes.) 
C. Council appointment considerations 

i. Piedmont Triad Regional Council (PTRC) Alternate 
a.   Ivan Huffman 

ii. Special Projects Review Committee 
a.    Melissa Hunt 
 

Council Member Lawson made a motion to approve the Council appointments as presented by 
Mayor Horn.  The motion was seconded by Council Member Long and approved unanimously. 

 
8. Administrative Reports 

A. Upcoming events and closings 
i. Jack Warren Park PARTF ribbon cutting and dedication event – March 22, 9-11 AM 

ii. Creek Week, March 22-31 
iii. Clean Sweep, March 29 
iv. Resident survey deadline, March 31 
v. Earth Day, April 12, 9 AM-2 PM 

B. Approvals at the Briefing and Action Meeting on February 6, 2025  
i. Council accepted resignation of Council Member Julia Puckett 

C. Approvals at the Briefing and Action Meeting on March 6, 2025  
i. Council appointed Tom Lawson to the unexpired Council seat of Julia Puckett 

 
9. For the Good of the Order 

A. Public comments  
i. Susan Frey, 165 Will Austin Court, requested a reminder about the resident survey be sent via 

Lewisville Connect. 
B. Council comments 

 
10. Adjournment – Council Member Long moved to adjourn the meeting at 6:25 PM. The motion was 

seconded by Council Member Welch and motion passed unanimously. 
 

 
 
____________________________________ 

ATTEST:       Mike Horn, Mayor 
 
____________________________ 
Dora K. Moore, Town Clerk 



CODE ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION AMOUNT CODE ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

10-00-5650-6210
General Fund - Powell Bill - 

Paving
78,760.00$   10-00-3990-9000

General Fund - Fund Balance 

Appropriated
78,760.00$   

78,760.00$   78,760.00$   

EXPLANATION: To increase appropriations for street paving and resurfacing out of Powell Bill funds.

RECOMMENDED BY:  Pam Orrell, Town Finance Director

Approved and effective upon adoption this the 10th day of April, 2025 by the Lewisville Town Council. 

ATTEST:

Mike Horn, Mayor

Dora K. Moore, Town Clerk

Budget Amendment # 10

Pam Orrell, Finance Director

TOWN OF LEWISVILLE

Budget Amendment Ordinance 2025-008

Amending Budget Ordinance 2024-001

FINANCE DEPARTMENT USE ONLY

DRAFT

Attachment #4



RESOLUTION 2025-012 OF THE LEWISVILLE TOWN COUNCIL 
AWARDING PAVING CONTRACT FOR STREET PAVING 

WHEREAS, the Town of Lewisville had a pavement condition survey completed on all town roads in August 
2003 by US infrastructure of Carolina, Incorporated Consulting Engineers with an update in 2020; and, 

WHEREAS, using information from the ranking sheets, it has been determined that milling and resurfacing 
are needed for in the entirety of Lewisville Trails neighborhood as well as Fair Bluff Drive and Goldfinch 
Road; and, 

WHEREAS, funds to complete the project are appropriated in the 2024-001 Budget Ordinance; and, 

WHEREAS, Yadkin Valley Paving, Inc. has bid the best price for this project. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE LEWISVILLE TOWN COUNCIL the Town Manager is 
authorized to award a contract for milling and paving as specified the entirety of Lewisville Trails 
neighborhood as well as Fair Bluff Drive and Goldfinch Road with Yadkin Valley Paving, Inc. for an amount 
not to exceed $488,000. 

Approved and effective this the 10th day of April 2025 by the Lewisville Town Council. 

______________________________ 
ATTEST:  Mike Horn, Mayor 

_____________________________ 
Dora K. Moore, Town Clerk 

Attachment #5



RESOLUTION 2025-013 OF THE LEWISVILLE TOWN COUNCIL 

REVISING THE PERSONNEL POLICY 

WHEREAS, the Town Council maintains a Personnel Policy in order to provide for uniform personnel 

management practices within the Town government; and 

WHEREAS, the Personnel Policy is reviewed periodically to determine that policies are stated as intended 

and reflect current desired practices; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE LEWISVILLE TOWN COUNCIL adopts the revised Personnel 

Policy as presented. 

Adopted and effective this the 10th day of April 2025 by the Lewisville Town Council. 

__________________________ 

Mike Horn, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_________________________ 

Dora K. Moore, Town Clerk 

Attachment #6



i

TOWN OF LEWISVILLE
PERSONNEL POLICY

BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of the Town of Lewisville that the following policies apply to 
the appointment, classification, benefits, salary, promotion, demotion, dismissal, and conditions of 
employment of the employees of the Town of Lewisville.

Title Page

ARTICLE I.  GENERAL PROVISIONS ............................................................................................ 1
Section 1.  Purpose of the Policy...................................................................................................1
Section 2.  At Will Employment......................................................................................................1
Section 3.  Merit Principle..............................................................................................................1
Section 4.  Responsibilities of the Town Council............................................................................1
Section 5.  Responsibilities of the Town Manager .........................................................................1
Section 6.  Responsibilities of the Department Directors ............................................................... 2
Section 7.  Responsibilities of Employees .....................................................................................3
Section 8.  Application of Policies, Plan, Rules, and Regulations ..................................................3
Section 9.  Definitions....................................................................................................................3

ARTICLE II.  POSITION CLASSIFICATION PLAN..........................................................................5
Section 1.  Purpose .......................................................................................................................5
Section 2.  Composition of the Position Classification Plan ........................................................... 5
Section 3.  Use of the Position Classification Plan.........................................................................5
Section 4.  Administration of the Position Classification Plan.........................................................5
Section 5.  Authorization of New Positions ....................................................................................6
Section 6.  Request for Reclassification ........................................................................................6
Section 7.  Maintenance of the Classification and Pay Plan .......................................................... 6

ARTICLE III. THE PAY PLAN..........................................................................................................7
Section 1.  Definition .....................................................................................................................7
Section 2.  Administration and Maintenance..................................................................................7
Section 3.  Starting Salaries ..........................................................................................................7
Section 4.  Trainee Designation and Provisions ............................................................................7
Section 5.  Performance Pay.........................................................................................................8
Section 6.  Salary Effect of Promotions, Demotions, Transfers, and Reclassifications...................8
Section 7.  Salary Range Revisions............................................................................................... 9
Section 8.  Transition to a New Salary Plan...................................................................................9
Section 9. Effective Date of Salary Changes ................................................................................9
Section 10.  Overtime Pay Provisions.............................................................................................. 9
Section 11.  Payroll Deductions..................................................................................................... 11
Section 12.  Hourly Rate of Pay..................................................................................................... 11
Section 13.  Acting Assignment Pay.............................................................................................. 11
Section 14.  Holiday Pay ............................................................................................................... 11
Section 15.  Longevity Pay ............................................................................................................ 11

ARTICLE IV.  RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT.................................................................... 12
Section 1.  Equal Employment Opportunity Statement ................................................................ 12
Section 2.  Recruitment, Selection and Appointment ................................................................... 12
Section 3.  Probationary Period ................................................................................................... 13
Section 4.  Promotion .................................................................................................................. 13

DRAFT
..

.............
.......................

ationsations .....................
............... ..........................

................................................ ...
............................... ............

ification PlanPlan ............
on Plann Plan........................................

n Classification Planssification Plan...
tions ............................................

ationation .......................................
Classification and Pay PClassification and P

N.....................................
................................................... .....

tion and Maintenancetion and Maintenanc
SalariesSalar ......................

esignation and Presignation and 
PayPay..................

PromoPromo



ii

Section 5.    Demotion ................................................................................................................... 14

ARTICLE V.  CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT........................................................................... 15
Section 1.   Work Schedule .......................................................................................................... 15
Section 2.    Political Activity.......................................................................................................... 15
Section 3.    Outside Employment ................................................................................................. 15
Section 4.    Dual Employment ...................................................................................................... 16
Section 5.    Employment of Relatives ........................................................................................... 16
Section 6.    Workplace Harassment Prohibited ............................................................................ 16
Section 7.    Solicitation and Acceptance of Gifts and Favors ........................................................ 17
Section 8.    Safety ........................................................................................................................ 18
Section 9.  Drug Free Workplace................................................................................................. 18
Section 10.  Technology Policy...................................................................................................... 18
Section 11.  Attendance and Tardiness ......................................................................................... 19
Section 12.  Lactation Support for Nursing Mothers....................................................................... 19
Section 13.  Use of Tobacco Products........................................................................................... 19
Section 14.  Inclement Weather..................................................................................................... 20
Section 15.  Workplace Violence Prohibited .................................................................................. 21
Section 16.  Surrender of Property ................................................................................................ 21
Section 17.  Security Inspections................................................................................................... 21
Section 18.  Weapons Prohibited .................................................................................................. 21

ARTICLE VI.  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS.......................................................................................... 22
Section 1.    Eligibility .................................................................................................................... 22
Section 2.    Group Health and Hospitalization Insurance.............................................................. 22
Section 3.    Life and Accidental Death Insurance.......................................................................... 22
Section 4.    Retirement ................................................................................................................. 22
Section 5.    Supplemental Retirement Benefits............................................................................. 23
Section 6.    Social Security........................................................................................................... 23
Section 7.    Workers' Compensation............................................................................................. 23
Section 8.    Unemployment Compensation................................................................................... 24
Section 9.  Use of Parks and Recreation Rental Facilities ........................................................... 24
Section 10.  Employee Assistance Program.................................................................................. 24

ARTICLE VII.  HOLIDAYS AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE .............................................................. 25
Section 1.    Policy......................................................................................................................... 25
Section 2.    Holidays..................................................................................................................... 25
Section 3.    Floating Holiday......................................................................................................... 25
Section 4.    Holidays: Effect on Other Types of Leave.................................................................. 25
Section 5.    Vacation Leave.......................................................................................................... 26
Section 6.    Vacation Leave: Use by Probationary Employees...................................................... 26
Section 7.    Vacation Leave:  Manner of Taking ........................................................................... 26
Section 8.    Vacation Leave: Accrual Rate.................................................................................... 26
Section 9.    Vacation Leave:  Maximum Accumulation ................................................................. 26
Section 10.  Vacation Leave:  Payment upon Separation .............................................................. 26
Section 11.  Vacation Leave:  Payment upon Death...................................................................... 27
Section 12.  Sick Leave................................................................................................................. 27
Section 13.  Sick Leave: Accrual Rate and Accumulation.............................................................. 28
Section 14.  Transfer of Sick Leave from Previous Employer ...................................................... 28
Section 15.  Sick Leave:  Medical Certification .............................................................................. 28
Section 16.  Leave Pro-Rated ....................................................................................................... 28
Section 17.  Personal Days ........................................................................................................... 29
Section 18.  Bereavement Leave...................................................................................................29

DRAFT
.............

......................
.................................... ..

................................................. .....

............... ..........................
................................. ...........

Insurancece.....................
anceance.............................................

.........................................................
Benefits.......................................

............................... ..................
tiontion............................................

ompensationmpensation............................
d Recreation Rental Fcreation Rental F

ssistance Programssistance Progra .....

AYS AND LEAVES OAYS AND LEAVES O
.........................................

..........................
..........

OO



iii

Section 19.  Family Medical Leave ................................................................................................29
Section 20.  Leave of Absence......................................................................................................29
Section 21.  Leave Without Pay.....................................................................................................30
Section 22.  Workers' Compensation Leave .................................................................................30
Section 23.  Military Leave ............................................................................................................31
Section 24.  Reinstatement Following Military Service...................................................................32
Section 25.  Civil Leave.................................................................................................................32
Section 26.  Parental School Leave...............................................................................................32
Section 27.  Administrative Leave .................................................................................................33

ARTICLE VIII. DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS .....................................................................................34
Section 1.    Policy.........................................................................................................................34
Section 2.    Procedure..................................................................................................................34
Section 3.    Non-Disciplinary Suspension .....................................................................................35
Section 4.    Administrative Guidelines ..........................................................................................36

ARTICLE IX.  SEPARATION AND REINSTATEMENT..................................................................38
Section 1.    Types of Separations.................................................................................................38
Section 2.    Resignation................................................................................................................38
Section 3.    Reduction in Force.....................................................................................................38
Section 4.    Voluntary Retirement .................................................................................................38
Section 5.    Death.........................................................................................................................38
Section 6.    Dismissal ...................................................................................................................38
Section 7.    Reinstatement ...........................................................................................................38
Section 9.    Rehiring .....................................................................................................................39

ARTICLE X.  GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE AND ADVERSE ACTION APPEAL .............................40
Section 1.    Policy.........................................................................................................................40
Section 2.    Grievance Defined .....................................................................................................40
Section 3.    Purpose of the Grievance Procedure.........................................................................40
Section 4.    Grievance Complaints ...............................................................................................41
Section 5.    Grievance Procedure.................................................................................................41

ARTICLE XI.  RECORDS AND REPORTS....................................................................................43
Section 1.    Public Information......................................................................................................43
Section 2.    Access to Confidential Records .................................................................................43
Section 3.    Personnel Actions......................................................................................................44
Section 4.    Records of Former Employees ..................................................................................44
Section 5.    Records of Applicants................................................................................................44
Section 6.    Remedies of Employees Objecting to Material in File ................................................44
Section 7.    Penalties for Permitting Access to Confidential Records............................................44
Section 8.    Examining and/or Copying Confidential Material without Authorization ......................45
Section 9.    Destruction of Records Regulated .............................................................................45

ARTICLE XII.  TRAVEL.................................................................................................................46
Section 1.    Use of Town Owned Vehicle......................................................................................46
Section 2.    Vehicle Allowance......................................................................................................46
Section 3.    Seminars and Training...............................................................................................46

ARTICLE XIII.  IMPLEMENTATION OF POLICIES .......................................................................47
Section 1.    Conflicting Policies Repealed ....................................................................................47
Section 2.    Separability................................................................................................................47
Section 3.    Amendment ...............................................................................................................47

DRAFT
.............

......................
.................................. ....

.................................................. ....
............ .............................

..................................................
.......................................... ..

............................. ........

E AND ADVERSE ACTD ADVERSE ACT
...................................................

................................................ ........
ance Procedureance Procedure............

aintsnts .............................................
edure.................................

DS AND REPORTSDS AND REPORTS....
formationform .....................

Confidential RecoConfidential Re
tionstions............

mer Emmer Em
anan



iv

DRAFT



1

Article 1. General Provisions

Section 1.  Purpose of the Policy

It is the purpose of this policy and the rules and regulations set forth to establish a fair and uniform 
system of personnel administration for all employees of the Town under the supervision of the Town 
Manager. This policy is established under authority of Chapter 160A, Article 7, of the General Statutes 
of North Carolina.  

Section 2.  At Will Employment

The Town of Lewisville is an “at-will” employer.  The employment relationship between the Town and 
the employee is terminable at the will of either at any time with or without cause and with or without 
advance notice.  No employee, officer or representative of the Town has any authority to enter into any 
agreement or representation, verbally or in writing, which alters, amends, or contradicts this provision 
or the provisions in these policies or to grant any employee contractual rights of employment.  

Nothing in this policy creates an employment contract or term between the Town and its employees.  
None of the benefits or policies set forth in these policies is intended, because of their publication, to 
confer any rights or privileges upon employees or entitle them to be or remain employed by the Town. 

These personnel policies are not a binding contract, but merely a set of guidelines for the 
implementation of personnel policies.  The Town explicitly reserves the right to modify any of the 
provisions of this policy at any time and without notice to employees. 

Section 3.  Merit Principle

All appointments and promotions shall be made solely on the basis of merit. Decisions regarding 
appointments and promotions are within the Town’s discretion. All positions requiring the performance 
of the same duties and fulfillment of the same responsibilities shall be assigned to the same class and 
the same salary range. No applicant for employment or employee shall be deprived of employment 
opportunities or otherwise adversely affected as an employee because of such individual’s race, color, 
religion, gender, national origin, sexual orientation, political affiliation, marital status, non-disqualifying 
disability, genetic information, veteran status, age, or on the basis of actual or perceived gender identity 
or expression.

Section 4.  Responsibilities of the Town Council

The Town Council shall be responsible for establishing and approving personnel policies, the position 
classification and pay plan, and may change the policies and benefits as necessary to promote the 
hiring and retention of employees, to be administered by the Town Manager. They Council shall make 
and confirm the appointment of the Town Manager.

The Town Council will prescribe the office hours, workdays, and holidays to be observed by the various 
offices and departments of the Town.

Section 5.  Responsibilities of the Town Manager

The Town Manager shall be accountable to the Town Council for the administration and technical 
direction of the personnel program.  The Town Manager shall appoint, suspend, and remove all Town 
employees, except those whose appointment is otherwise provided for by law, in accordance with the 

DRAFT
ctual ctual

m between the m betwee
s intended, becauses intended, be

them to be or remain ethem to be or rema

ontract, but merely a tract, but m
wn explicitly reserves licitly r

ut notice to employees. t notice to emplo

shall be made solely oshall be made so
e e within the Town’s discwithin the Town’s di

ent of the same responof the same respon
applicant for employmapplicant for 

e adversely affected ase adversely affected
al origin, sexual oriental origin, sexual orient
atation, veteran statuion, veteran s

of thof th



2

procedures spelled out in this policy. 

The Town Manager shall supervise or participate in:

a) recommending rules and revisions to the personnel system to the Town Council for consideration;

b) making changes as necessary to maintain an up to date and accurate position classification plan;

c) preparing and recommending necessary revisions to the pay plan;

d) determining which employees shall be subject to the overtime provisions of FLSA;

e) establishing and maintaining a roster of all persons and authorized positions in the municipal 
service, setting forth each position and employee, class title of position, salary, any changes in 
class title and status, and such data as may be desirable or useful; 

f) developing and administering such recruiting programs as may be necessary to obtain an adequate 
supply of competent applicants to meet the needs of the Town;

g) performing such other duties as may be assigned by the Town Council not inconsistent with this 
Policy.

All matters dealing with personnel shall be routed to the Town Manager, who shall maintain a complete 
system of personnel files and records. The Town Manager may perform any or all of these duties and 
responsibilities or assign them to a staff employee. All personnel matters concerning or directly affecting 
the Town Manager shall be administered by the Town Council.

Section 6.  Responsibilities of Department Directors

Department Directors shall meet their responsibilities as directed by the Town Manager, being guided 
by this policy and other Town ordinances.  The Town will require all Department Directors to meet their 
responsibilities by:

a) dealing with all employees in a fair and equitable manner and upholding the principles of equal 
employment opportunities;

b) developing and motivating employees to reach their fullest potential through continued 
education and training;

c) making objective evaluations of individual work performance and discussing these evaluations 
with each employee so as to bring about needed improvements;

d) keeping employees informed of their role in accomplishing the work of their unit and of conditions 
or changes affecting their work;

e) making every effort to resolve employee problems and grievances and advising employees of
their rights and privileges;

f) cooperating and coordinating with other staff members in workflow and distribution of 
information;

g) making proper performance documentation and maintaining current files; and

h) abiding by the provisions of these policies and ensuring employees abide by same.

DRAFT
be nbe n

wn;wn;

he Town Council nohe Town Cou

the Town Manager, whhe Town Ma
 Manager may performager ma

yee. All personnel matteyee. All personne
y the Town Councile Town Council..

artment Directorsartment Director

their responsibilities astheir responsibilities a
rdinances.  The Townnances.  The Town

employees in a fair andemployees in a fair an
portunities;portun

ivating eivating e



3

Section 7.  Responsibilities of Employees

Teamwork is an important part of an effective organization. Employees are responsible for keeping the 
Town Manager informed on relevant work issues.  Employees are responsible for:

a) asking questions and learning their full scope of responsibilities and perform those diligently;

b) following the chain of command in addressing work concerns and problems;

c) showing courtesy and respect and work cooperatively with other employees;

d) providing excellent customer service to citizens and visitors; and

e) learning and following these personnel policies and procedures. 

Section 8.  Application of Policies, Plan, Rules, and Regulations

The personnel policy and all rules and regulations adopted pursuant thereto shall be binding on all Town 
employees.  Members of the Town Council and advisory boards and commissions will be exempted 
except in sections where specifically included.  An employee violating any of the provisions of this 
policy shall be subject to appropriate disciplinary action, as well as prosecution under any civil or 
criminal laws which have been violated.

Section 9.  Definitions

For the purposes of this Policy, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively 
ascribed to them by this section:

a. Adverse Action: A demotion, dismissal, reduction in pay, layoff, suspension, or undesirable transfer.

b. Exempt Employee: An employee not subject to the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) minimum wage 
and overtime provisions. 

c. Full-Time Employee: An employee, either regular or temporary, who is regularly scheduled to work 
a full-time work week (40 hours per week).

d. Grievance: Any dispute that arises between an employer and employee, which relates to the implied 
or explicit terms of employment agreement

e. Immediate Family:  Spouse or domestic partner; parents and grandparents (including step, in law, 
domestic partner and foster relationships); children and grandchildren (including step, domestic partner 
and foster relationships); brothers and sisters (including step siblings, in laws, and domestic partner 
relationships).  Defines the term "family member" as a spouse or domestic partner, parents, and 
children, including biological, adopted, or foster children, a stepchild, a legal ward or a child of a person 
standing in loco parentis, having a child who is under 18 years of age or 18 years of age or older and 
incapable of self-care because of a mental or physical disability. 

f. Non-Exempt Employee: An employee subject to FLSA minimum wage and overtime provisions.

g.  Part-Time Employee: An employee, either regular or temporary, who is regularly scheduled less 
than the full-time work week. 

h. Probationary Employee: An employee appointed to a full or part-time position who has not yet 

DRAFT
nsns

suant thereto ssuant the
boards and commisboards and c

ployee violating any ofployee violating an
tion, as well as prosetion, as well as prose

wing words and phrasesords and phrases

dismissal, reduction in pdismissal, reduction in

mployee not subject to mployee not s

: An employee, eith: An employee, 
hours per weehours per wee

arisaris



4

successfully completed the designated probationary period.

i.  Regular Employee: An employee who has successfully completed the prescribed probationary 
periods shall be considered regular. However, all Town positions are at will and subject to budget review 
and approval each year by the Town Council, and all employees' work and conduct must meet 
standards of performance and behavior. Therefore, reference to "regular" employees or permanent 
positions should not be construed as a contract or right to perpetual funding or employment.

j. Temporary Employee: An employee hired to work in a position for a definite duration, but not to 
exceed twelve (12) months.

DRAFT



5

ARTICLE II.  POSITION CLASSIFICATION PLAN

Section 1.  Purpose

The position classification plan provides a complete inventory of all authorized and regular positions in 
the Town service, and an accurate description and specification for each class of employment.  The 
plan standardizes job titles, each of which is indicative of a definite range of duties and responsibilities.

Section 2.  Composition of the Position Classification Plan

The classification plan shall consist of:

a) a grouping of positions in classes which are approximately equal in difficulty and 
responsibility which call for the same general qualifications, and which can be equitably 
compensated within the same range of pay under similar working conditions;

b) class titles descriptive of the work of the class;

c) written specifications for each class of positions; and

d) an allocation list showing the class title of each position in the classified service. 

Section 3.  Use of the Position Classification Plan

The classification plan is to be used:

a) as a guide in recruiting and examining applicants for employment; 

b) in determining lines of promotion and in developing employee training programs;

c) in determining salary to be paid for various types of work;

d) in determining personnel service items in departmental budgets; and

e) in providing uniform job terminology.

Section 4.  Administration of the Position Classification Plan

The Town Manager shall be responsible for the administration and maintenance of the position 
classification plan and shall allocate each position covered by the classification plan to its appropriate 
class.  The Town Manager shall periodically review portions of the classification plan and recommend 
appropriate changes to the Town Council.

Department Heads shall be responsible for bringing to the attention of the Town Manager (1) the need 
for new positions, and (2) material changes in the nature of duties, responsibilities, working conditions 
or other factors which may affect the classification of an existing position.

When the Town Manager finds that a substantial change has occurred in the nature or level of duties 
and responsibilities of an existing position, the existing class specification shall be revised or reallocated 
to the appropriate class within the existing classification plan, or the position classification plan shall be 
amended establishing a new class to which the position may be allocated, subject to budget limitations.

DRAFT
ww

s; ands; and

each position in the claeach position in the cla

n Plan

d examining applicantsd examining app

of promotion and in devpromotion and in dev

salary to be paid for varsalary to be paid 

ng personnel service ng personnel service 

orm job termorm job term

hh



6

Section 5.  Authorization of New Positions

New positions shall be established upon recommendation of the Town Manager and approval of the 
Town Council. New positions shall be recommended to the Town Council with a recommended class 
title after which the Town Manager shall either allocate the new position into the appropriate existing 
class or revise the position classification plan to establish a new class to which the new position may 
be allocated.  The position classification plan, along with any new positions or classifications shall be 
approved by the Town Council.  

Section 6.  Request for Reclassification

Any employee who considers the position in which classified to be improper shall submit a request in 
writing for reclassification to such employee's immediate supervisor, who shall transmit the request to 
the Town Manager. Upon receipt of such request, the Town Manager will study the request, determine 
the merit of the reclassification, and recommend any necessary revisions to the classification and pay 
plan to the Council. 

Section 7.  Maintenance of the Classification and Pay Plan
Because job duties change over time and the market pay rate changes at different rates for different 
jobs, pay plan reviews are needed periodically.

DRAFT
visionvisio

PlanPlan
pay rate changes at dpay rate changes at d



7

ARTICLE III. THE PAY PLAN

Section 1.  Definition

The pay plan includes the basic salary schedule and the "Assignment of Classes to Grades" adopted 
by the Town Council. Each position is assigned a classification title and each title is assigned to a salary 
grade with a specific salary range.  Positions are assigned to grades within the pay plan based on the 
duties and responsibilities assigned.  Positions with more complex tasks, more responsibility, or 
requiring more technical knowledge are assigned to higher salary grades. Salary ranges are set based 
on two components: competitiveness with the market and internal equity with similar positions and 
occupational groups. The pay classification system contains a salary range delimited by a minimum 
rate, midpoint and maximum rates of pay for all classes of positions.  These rates are adopted by the 
Town Council upon recommendation of the Town Manager and are updated at times determined by the 
Town Manager. 

Section 2.  Administration and Maintenance

The Town Manager shall be responsible for the administration and maintenance of the pay plan.  All 
employees covered by the pay plan shall be paid at a rate listed within the salary range established for 
the respective position classification, except for employees in trainee status or employees whose 
existing salaries are above the established maximum rate following transition to a new pay plan. 

The pay plan is intended to provide equitable compensation for all positions, reflecting differences in 
the duties and responsibilities, the comparable rates of pay for positions in private and public 
employment in the area, changes in the cost of living, the financial conditions of the Town, and other 
factors.  To this end, each budget year the Town Manager may make comparative studies of all factors 
affecting the level of salary ranges including the consumer price index, anticipated changes in 
surrounding employer plans, and other relevant factors, and recommend to the Town Council such 
changes in salary ranges as appear to be pertinent. Such changes may be made in the salary ranges 
such that the minimum rate, midpoint, and the maximum rates change according to the market. 

Periodically, the Town Manager shall recommend that individual salary ranges be studied and adjusted 
as necessary to maintain market competitiveness.  Such adjustments will be made by increasing or 
decreasing the assigned salary grade for the class and possibly adjusting the rate of pay for employees 
in the class when the action is approved by the Town Council.

Section 3.  Starting Salaries

All persons employed in positions approved in the position classification plan shall be employed at the 
minimum rate for the classification in which they are employed; however, exceptionally well qualified 
applicants may be employed above the minimum rate of the established salary range upon approval of 
the Town Manager when deemed in the best interest of the Town, and will be based on such factors as 
exceptional qualifications of the applicant much higher than the required education and experience for 
the class, shortage of qualified applicants, or operational need. 

Section 4.  Trainee Designation and Provisions

Applicants being considered for employment or Town employees who do not meet all of the 
requirements for the position for which they are being considered may be hired, promoted, demoted, or 
transferred by the Town Manager to a "trainee" status.  In such cases, a plan for training, including a 

tion and maintenanction and main
e listed within the salare listed within the s

ployees in trainee staployees in trainee sta
m rate following transitrate followin

compensation for all pcompensation fo
arable rates of pay fable rates of pay 

cost of living, the finanliving, the finan
r the Town Manager mar the Town Manager ma

es including the conses including the 
d other relevant factorsd other relevant facto

ppear to be pertinent. Sar to be pertinent. S
midpoint, and the maxmidpoint, and

Manager shall recommManager shall recomm
in market competitin market comp

alary grade foralary grade fo
s approvs approv



8

time schedule, must be prepared by the supervisor.  

"Trainee" salaries shall be no more than two salary grades below the minimum rate established for the 
position for which the person is being trained.  A new employee designated as "trainee" shall be 
regarded as being in a probationary period. However, probationary periods shall be no less than six 
months and trainee periods may extend from three to eighteen months. A trainee shall remain a 
probationary employee until the trainee period is satisfactorily completed.

If the training is not successfully completed to the satisfaction of the Town, the trainee shall be 
transferred, demoted, or dismissed.  If the training is successfully completed, the employee shall be 
paid at least at the minimum rate established for the position for which the employee was trained.

Section 5.  Performance Pay

An annual performance evaluation shall be scheduled for each non-probationary employee in June and 
become effective in July. Consultation between the employee and supervisor regarding performance at 
times other than the annual performance evaluation is anticipated and encouraged under this policy 
and shall be considered to supplement rather than replace the annual performance evaluation. 

Employees may be considered for advancement within the established salary range based on the 
quality of their overall performance. Procedures for determining performance levels and performance 
pay increases shall be established in procedures approved by the Town. Performance pay is subject to 
annual appropriation. 

Employees who are at the maximum of the salary range for their position classification are eligible to 
be considered for a merit bonus at their regular performance evaluation time. Merit bonuses shall be 
awarded based upon the performance of the employee as described in the performance evaluation. 
Merit bonuses do not become part of base pay and shall be awarded in a lump sum payment.

Section 6.  Salary Effect of Promotions, Demotions, and Reclassifications

Promotion. A promotion is a move to a position with a higher salary grade. The purpose of the 
promotion pay increase is to recognize and compensate the employee for taking on increased 
responsibility.  When an employee is promoted, the employee's salary shall normally be advanced to 
the minimum rate of the new position, or to a salary which provides an increase of at least approximately 
5% over the employee's salary before the promotion, whichever is greater.   In the event of highly 
skilled and qualified employees, shortage of qualified applicants, or other reasons related to the merit 
principle of employment, the Town Manager may set the salary at an appropriate rate in the range of 
the position to which the employee is promoted that best reflects the employee’s qualifications for the 
job and relative worth to the Town, taking into account the range of the position and relative 
qualifications of other employees in the same classification.  In no event, however, shall the new salary 
exceed the maximum rate of the new salary range. In setting the promotion salary, the Town shall 
consider internal comparisons with other employees in the same or similar jobs.

Demotion. Demotion is the movement of an employee from one position to a position in a class 
assigned to a lower salary grade.  Demotions can be either voluntary, where the employee chooses to 
take a position in a lower salary grade, or involuntary, resulting from inefficiency in performance or as 
a disciplinary action. When an employee is demoted to a position for which qualified, the salary shall be 
set at the rate in the lower pay grade salary range which provides a salary commensurate with the 
employee’s qualifications to perform the job and consistent with the placement of other employees 

DRAFT
probpro

d supervisd sup
pated and encopated an

the annual performathe annual pe

hin the established sahin the established sa
r determining performadetermining 

approved by the Townved by 

the salary range for ary range for thethe
eir regular performanceeir regular performance

nce of the employee ance of the employ
rt of base pay and shalrt of base pay and sh

of Promotions, Demotof Promotions

tion is a move to a ption is a move to a p
e is to recognize e is to recogni

employee is premployee is p
position, position, 

y bey be



9

within the same classification. If the current salary is within the new range, the employee’s salary may 
be retained at the previous rate if appropriate.  If the demotion is the result of discipline, the salary shall 
be decreased at least 5%.  Salaries of demoted employees may be no greater than the maximum of 
the new range.  

Reclassification. A reclassification is a change in a position’s salary grade and title due to a significant 
increase or decrease in job responsibilities and duties. An employee whose position is reclassified to a 
class having a higher salary grade shall receive a pay increase of 5% or an increase to the minimum 
rate of the new pay range, whichever is higher.  If the current salary is above the new salary range 
minimum, there may be a pay increase based on increased job responsibilities and commensurate with 
the employee’s qualifications and is consistent with the placement of other employees within the same 
classification. 

If the position is reclassified to a lower pay range, the employee's salary shall remain the same.  If the 
employee's salary is above the maximum established for the new range, the salary of that employee 
shall be maintained at the current level until the range is increased above the employee's salary.

Section 7. Salary Range Revisions

When an individual class of positions is assigned to a higher salary range, employees in that class shall 
normally receive a pay increase consistent with the implementation strategy or to the minimum rate of 
the new range, whichever is higher.  When a class of positions is assigned to a lower salary range, the 
salaries of employees in that class will remain unchanged.  If this assignment to a lower salary range 
results in an employee being paid at a rate above the maximum rate established for the new class, the 
salary of that employee shall be maintained at that level until such time as the employee's salary range 
is increased above the employee's current salary.

Section 8. Transition to a New Salary Plan 

The following principles shall govern the transition to a new salary plan: 

1) No employee shall receive a salary reduction as a result of the transition to a new salary plan. 

2) All employees being paid at a rate lower than the minimum rate established for their respective 
classes shall have their salaries raised to the new minimum, or higher, for their classes.

3) All employees being paid at a rate above the maximum rate established for their respective 
classes shall be maintained at that salary level until such time as the employees' salary range 
is increased above the employees' current salary.

Section 9.   Effective Date of Salary Changes

Salary changes approved after the first working day of a pay period shall become effective at the 
beginning of the next pay period, or at such specific date as may be provided by procedures approved 
by the Town Manager.

Section 10.  Overtime Pay Provisions

Employees of the Town can be requested and may be required to work in excess of their regularly 
scheduled hours as necessitated by the needs of the Town.  All overtime work must be approved in 

DRAFT
lala

w rangew ran
sed above thsed ab

a higher salary range, ehigher salary range, e
he implementatplementa ion strat

ass of positions is assigass of positions
in unchanged.  If this aunchanged.  If th

e above the maximum ve the maximum 
ned at that level until sned at that level until s

urrent salary.urrent sa

w Salary Plan Salary Plan 

all govern the transitionall govern the tra

hall receive a salary rhall receive a salary r

paid at a rapaid at a r
r salarr salar



10

advance by the Town Manager, or other designee, prior to working overtime hours. Employees are not 
to perform work during any time that they are not scheduled to work unless they receive prior approval
from the Town Manager. Working unapproved overtime may result in disciplinary action, up to and 
including termination. 

To the extent that local government jurisdictions are so required, the Town will comply with the Fair 
Labor Standards Act (FLSA).  The Town Manager shall determine which jobs are "non-exempt" and 
are therefore subject to the Act in areas such as hours of work and work periods, rates of overtime 
compensation, and other provisions.

Non-exempt Employees,
Non-exempt employees, as defined by FLSA, are subject to overtime and will be paid at a straight time 
rate for hours up to the FLSA established limit for their position (usually 40 hours in a 7-day period). 
Hours worked in excess of 40 shall be compensated at 1 ½ times the employee’s regular hourly rate. 

An employee must physically work over 40 hours to earn overtime pay or compensatory time. In 
determining eligibility for overtime in a work period, only hours actually worked shall be considered; in 
no event will vacation, sick leave, or holidays be included in the computation of hours worked for FLSA 
purposes. 

Whenever practical, departments will schedule time off on an hour-for-hour basis within the applicable 
work period for non-exempt employees, instead of paying overtime.  When time off within the work 
period cannot be granted, overtime worked will be paid in accordance with the FLSA.

In lieu of payment, the employee may receive compensatory time off at a rate of one-and-one-half (1 
½) hours for each hour of overtime worked beyond the FLSA established limit to be used as paid time 
off. Compensatory time off should be used within a reasonable time following its accrual. Employees 
must use compensatory leave time in advance of using vacation leave to count for time off. 

Non-exempt employees may not accrue a compensatory time balance of more than 240 hours. Once a 
non-exempt employee has accumulated the 240-hour limit for comp time, the employee will receive a 
monetary payment at the employee’s regular rate of pay for each hour in excess of the limit. Any unused 
compensatory time at June 30th of each year will be paid to the employee at the employee's current 
hourly rate of pay. Any unused compensatory time will also be paid upon termination at the employee's 
current hourly rate of pay. 

Exempt Employees
Employees in positions determined to be “exempt” from the FLSA may earn compensatory time at the 
rate of 1 hour for 1 hour of overtime worked. Compensatory time does not convert to vacation or sick 
leave and ends without compensation upon termination of employment. All compensatory time shall be 
approved by the Town Manager.

In a declared disaster or emergency situations, where employees are required to work long and 
continuous hours, the Town Manager may approve compensation at time and one half for those hours 
worked and/or grant time off with pay for rest and recuperation to ensure safe working conditions.  In 
a FEMA declared emergency when extended long hours are required, exempt and non-exempt 
employees may be determined to be eligible for overtime compensation at a rate not to exceed double 
time at the authorization of the Town Manager.

DRee DRAFT
rtime prtime 

actually woractua
he computation ohe comput

off on an houroff on an hou -for-hour ur
of paying overtime.  Waying ove

be paid in accordance be paid in acco

eive compensatory timcompensatory tim
ked beyond the FLSA eked beyond the FLSA e

e used within a reasone used within a r
e in advance of using vae in advance of usin

not accrue a compensaccrue a compensa
s accumulated the s accumulated th 240
employee’s regular raemployee’s regular r

June 30th of each yeJune 30th of each ye
nused compensanused compens



11

Section 11.  Payroll Deductions

Deductions shall be made from each employee's salary, as required by law.  Additional deductions 
may be made upon the request of the employee on determination by the Town Manager as to capability 
of payroll equipment, associated increase in workload, and appropriateness of the deduction.

Section 12.  Hourly Rate of Pay

Employees working in a part-time or temporary capacity for the Town with the same duties as full-time 
employees will normally work at a rate in the same salary range as the full-time employees. The hourly 
rate for employees working 40 hours per week will be determined by dividing the average number of 
hours scheduled per year (2080) into the annual salary for the position.

Section 13.  Acting Assignment Pay 

An employee who is formally designated by the Town Manager to perform the duties of a job that is 
assigned to a higher salary grade than that of the employee’s regular classification for a period of 30 
days or more shall receive an increase for the duration of the interim assignment. The employee shall 
receive a salary adjustment to the minimum level of the job in which the employee is acting or an 
increase of 5%, whichever is greater. The salary increase shall be temporary and upon completion of 
the assignment, the employee shall go back to the salary he or she would have had if not assigned in 
the interim role, taking into account any increases the employee would have received if they had not 
been placed in the interim role.

Section 14. Holiday Pay

Holidays are equivalent to 8 hours straight-time pay for all regular full-time employees regardless of 
their typical workweek schedule and are excluded from hours worked in calculating overtime. Benefits-
eligible employees required to perform work on a regularly scheduled Town-recognized holiday shall 
be entitled to take another day off to replace the scheduled holiday.  Each hour worked on the holiday 
earns one hour of time off.

Section 15. Loyalty Bonus

Full-time, regular employees may be compensated for years of service to the Town by payment of a 
loyalty bonus. The bonus is based on the total number of years of continuous service to the Town and 
will be issued in a lump sum in the month corresponding with the employee’s anniversary date. 
Employees shall receive the loyalty bonus in an amount of $1,500.00 every three years (3-year 
anniversary, 6-year anniversary, 9-year anniversary, etc.).

The continuation of the loyalty bonus as an employee benefit is determined annually and is a part of the 
budget ordinance.

DRAFT
to perfoto pe

regular clasregul
e interim assignme interim a

job in which the emjob in which th
ase shall be temporary ase shall be temporar

alary he or she would halary he or she would h
s the employee would he employe

straightstraight--time pay for alltime pay 
nd are excluded from hond are excluded from

perform work on a regerform work on a reg
y off to replace the scho replace the sch

BonusBonu

s may s may bebe c
ased oased o



12

ARTICLE IV.  RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT

Section 1.  Equal Employment Opportunity Statement

It is the policy of the Town of Lewisville to foster, maintain, and promote equal employment opportunity.  
The Town maintains a consistent recruitment program to promote equal employment opportunity and 
to identify and attract the most qualified applicants for all vacancies. This intent is achieved through 
consistency in announcing position vacancies, evaluating applicants on the same criteria, providing 
reasonable accommodations as needed, and by applying consistent testing methods when applicable. 
The Town shall select and retain employees on the basis of the applicant's qualifications for the job and 
award them with respect to compensation and opportunity for training and advancement, including 
upgrading and promotion, without regard to race, religion, color, gender, national origin, sexual 
orientation, age, veteran status, marital status, political affiliation, disability, genetic information, on the 
basis of actual or perceived gender identity, or other protected class. Applicants with physical disabilities 
shall be given equal consideration with other applicants for positions in which their disabilities do not 
represent an unreasonable barrier to satisfactory performance of essential duties with or without 
reasonable accommodation.

It is a violation of Town policy to retaliate in any way against an employee who assists, participates in, 
or supports this policy or anyone making a bona-fide complaint under this policy or who participates or 
assists in any EEOC, OSHA or other internal or external processes protected by law.

Section 2.  Recruitment, Selection and Appointment

Recruitment Sources. When position vacancies occur, the Town shall publicize these opportunities 
for employment, including applicable salary information and employment qualifications.  Information on 
job openings may be provided to a variety of recruitment sources, including professional organizations 
and news media available to minority applicants.  Individuals shall be recruited from a geographic area 
as wide as necessary and for a period of time sufficient to ensure that well-qualified applicants are 
obtained for Town service. In rare situations because of emergency conditions, high turnover, etc., the 
Town may hire or promote without advertising jobs, upon approval of the Town Manager.

Job Advertisements. Jobs may be advertised in local area newspapers, professional publications, 
and other relevant publications in order to establish a diverse and qualified applicant pool.  Vacancy 
notices should be posted in Town employment locations. Employment advertisements shall contain 
assurances of equal employment opportunity and shall comply with Federal and State statutes.

Application for Employment. All persons expressing interest in employment with the Town shall be 
given the opportunity to file an application for employment for positions which are vacant. The
applications are typically screened by the Town Manager.

Selection. The Town shall make such investigations and conduct such examinations as necessary to 
assess accurately the knowledge, skills, and experience qualifications required for the position, 
including criminal history where job-related. Conviction of a crime is not automatically disqualifying.  
The Town will consider the severity of the crime, degree to which the crime is job related to the job for 
which the applicant is being considered, and length of time since the conviction to determine the degree 
to which there is a business necessity for choosing not to hire the applicant. All selection devices 
administered by the Town shall be valid measures of job performance.

Appointment.   Before any commitment is made to an applicant either internal or external, the 

DRAFT
ApAp

ons in ons 
ce of essence of

ainst an employee whoainst an employee w
complaint under this pcomplaint under this p

xternal processes protenal proces

ppointmentpointme

vacancies occur, vacancies occur, the Tthe T
salary information and esalary information

 variety of  variety of recruitment recruitme
nority applicantsority applicants.  Indiv.  Indiv

or a period of time sufferiod of time suff
In rare situations becaIn rare situation

ote without advertising jote without advertising

Jobs Jobs may be adve a
ons inons i ordeorde

Town eTown e
tt



13

Department Head shall make recommendations to the Town Manager including the position to be filled, 
the salary to be paid, and the reasons for selecting the candidate over other candidates. The Town 
Manager shall approve appointments and the starting salary for all applicants.

Section 3.  Probationary Period

An employee appointed or promoted to a regular position shall serve a six month probationary period. 
The probationary period serves as an extension of the selection process. It is a trial period during which 
the employee can demonstrate his or her ability to perform the work effectively, demonstrate good work 
habits, and ensure the ability to work effectively with the public and coworkers before granting regular 
status. 

During the probationary period, the Town Manager or Department Head shall monitor an employee's 
performance and communicate with the employee concerning performance progress. 

Before the end of the probationary period, the supervisor shall conduct a performance conference with 
the employee to discuss accomplishments, strengths, and needed improvements. The supervisor shall 
recommend in writing whether the probationary period should be completed, extended, or the employee 
transferred, demoted, or dismissed. Probationary periods may be extended for a maximum of six 
additional months.

Disciplinary action, including demotion and dismissal, may be taken at any time during the probationary 
period of a new hire without following the steps outlined in this policy for disciplinary action.

A promoted employee who does not successfully complete the probationary period may be transferred 
or demoted to a position in which the employee shows promise of success.  If no such position is 
available, the employee shall be dismissed.  Promoted and demoted employees who are on probation 
retain all other rights and benefits such as the right to use of the grievance procedures.

Section 4.  Promotion

Promotion is the movement of an employee from one position to a vacant position in a class assigned 
to a higher salary grade. The Town strives to create career opportunities for its employees whenever 
possible.  Therefore, when a current employee applying for a vacant position is best suited of all 
applicants, that applicant shall be appointed to that position.  The Town will balance three goals in the 
employment process:

1) the benefits to employees and the organization of promotion from within; 

2) providing equal employment opportunity and a diversified workforce to the community; and

3) obtaining the best possible employee who will provide the most productivity in that position.

Therefore, except in rare situations where previous Town experience is essential or exceptional 
qualifications of an internal candidate so indicate, the Town will conduct an open recruitment and 
consider external and internal candidates simultaneously rather than automatically promote from within. 
Candidates for promotion shall be chosen on the basis of their qualifications and their work records. 
Internal candidates shall apply for promotions using the same application process as external 
candidates.  

Section 5.  Demotion

nduct anduct
ded improvemed im

be completed, exbe comple
s may be extended s may be exte

sal, may be taken at anymay be tak
outlined in this policy fooutlined in this

essfully complete the prly complete the pr
employee showsemployee shows promprom

missed.  Promoted and missed.  Promote
such as the right to usesuch as the right to 

ment of an employee froment of an employee f
ee.. TThe Town strives tstrives t
hen a current emhen a current 

all be appoall be appo



14

Demotion is the movement of an employee from one position to a position in a class assigned to a lower 
salary grade.  Demotion may be voluntary or involuntary.  An employee whose work or conduct in the 
current position is unsatisfactory may be demoted provided that the employee shows promise of 
becoming a satisfactory employee in the lower position.  Such disciplinary demotion shall follow the 
disciplinary procedures outlined in this policy.

An employee who wishes to accept a position with less complex duties and reduced responsibilities 
may request a voluntary demotion by using the same application process as external candidates.   A 
voluntary demotion is not a disciplinary action and is made without using the above-referenced 
disciplinary procedures. 

ARTICLE V.  CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT

DRAFT



15

Section 1.  Work Schedule

The working hours for Town administrative offices are 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, 
with one hour daily for a meal break. An employee’s hours may change depending on the needs of the 
Town. The employee will be notified at least 24 hours in advance of any temporary changes made to 
the work hours. 

The official workweek for payroll purposes is seven days beginning on Saturday 12:01 AM and ends 
the following Friday at 12:00 midnight. 

Department Heads shall establish work schedules, with the approval of the Town Manager, which meet 
the operational needs of the department in the most cost-effective manner possible.

Section 2.  Political Activity

Each employee has a civic responsibility to support good government by every available means and in 
every appropriate manner. Employees may join or affiliate with civic organizations of a partisan or 
political nature, may attend political meetings, may advocate and support the principles or policies of 
civic or political organizations in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of North Carolina 
and in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the United States.  However, no employee shall:

a) engage in any political or partisan activity while on duty;
b) use official authority of influence for the purpose of interfering with or affecting the result of 

a nomination or an election for office;
c) be required as condition for employment, promotion or tenure of office to contribute funds 

for political or partisan purposes;
d) coerce or compel contributions from another employee of the Town for political or partisan 

purposes;
e) use any supplies or equipment of the Town for political or partisan purposes; or
f) be a candidate for nomination or election to office within the Town of Lewisville.

Any violation of this section shall subject the employee to disciplinary action including dismissal.

Section 3. Outside Employment

The work of the Town shall have precedence over other occupational interests of employees.  The 
Town understands that for various reasons employees may seek to hold other jobs while continuing to 
work for the Town. Outside employment is prohibited when it would create a conflict of interest or 
interfere with the employee’s ability to perform work for the Town in a satisfactory manner.  All outside 
employment for salaries, wages, or commissions and all self-employment must be reported in advance 
to the Town Manager. The Town Manager will review such employment for possible conflict of interest 
and then submit documentation of the approval of outside employment in the employee’s personnel file. 
Conflicting or unreported outside employment are grounds for disciplinary action up to and including 
dismissal.  

Examples of conflicts of interest in outside employment include but are not limited to:

a) employment with organizations or in capacities that are regulated by the employee or 
employee’s department; or

DRAFTnment by evnmen
with civic organwith civic 

cate and support the pcate and suppor
nstitution and laws of thnstitution and laws of 

he United States.  Howhe United States.  How

ctivity while on dctivity while on uty;
or the purpose of interfr the purpose of in

office;e;
employment, promotioemployment, promotio

poses;poses;
ibutions from another eibutions from anoth

or equipment of the Towipment of the Tow
or nomination or electior nomination o

ction shall subject thection shall subject the

oymentoyment



16

b) employment with organizations or in capacities that negatively impact the employee’s 
perceived integrity, neutrality, or reputation related to performance of the employee’s Town 
duties.

Any approved outside employment shall follow the below guidelines:

a) no time during Town working hours shall be used to promote or carry out outside 
employment; or

b) no employee shall use any equipment, supplies, or office space owned by the Town for 
outside employment; or

c) no employee shall engage in the preparation of any work for any outside employer, as a 
professional contractor or subcontractor, which will be submitted to any Town or Town-
County agency for review, approval, or inspection. 

Employees are prohibited from other employment while on a leave of absence (Workers’ Compensation 
Leave, etc.) from the Town.

Any violation of this policy on outside employment shall be grounds for disciplinary action or dismissal. 

Section 4.  Dual Employment

A full or part-time employee of the Town may simultaneously hold another position with the Town if the 
temporary position is in a different department and clearly different program area from that of the full or 
part-time position. The work of the temporary position must also be performed on an occasional or 
sporadic basis as identified in Fair Labor Standards Act regulations. However, the work of the full or 
part-time position shall take precedence over the temporary position, and such temporary work will not 
count toward the calculation of overtime for pay or time off.  

Section 5.  Employment of Relatives

The Town is committed to the highest standards of professional conduct and integrity and believes that 
familial relationships in the workplace can result in conflicts of interest, or an appearance of conflict of 
interest, and/or situations that might impair objective judgment or create a hostile work environment.  
Therefore, the Town prohibits the hiring and employment of relatives within the Town if such 
employment results in an employee directly supervising an immediate family member. The Town also 
prohibits the employment of any person who is a relative of individuals holding the following positions: 
Mayor, Mayor Pro Tempore, Town Council Member, or Town Attorney.  

A relative, for the purpose of this policy, is defined as spouse, parent, guardian, children, siblings, 
grandparent, grandchild, plus the various combinations of half, step, in-law and adopted relationships 
that can be derived from those named. The definition for this Article also includes individuals living in 
the same household who share a relationship comparable to immediate family members or intimate 
relationship.

Section 6.  Workplace Harassment Prohibited

It is the policy of the Town of Lewisville to maintain a workplace that is free from harassment and other 
behaviors that threaten the health, safety, productivity and well-being of its employees and others. The 
Town of Lewisville prohibits, and will not tolerate, harassment in any form on the basis of race, religion, 

DRAFTve of absencve of 

be grounds for disciplinbe grounds for discip

simultaneously hold ansimultaneously hol
ment and clearly differenand clearly differen

mporaryp position must aposition must a
abor Standards Act regabor Standards A

dence over the temporadence over the temp
overtime for pay or timevertime for pay or time

of Relativesof Relatives

 to the highest standa to the highest standa
he workplace canhe workplace c

hat might imhat might im
ts the ts the 



17

color, gender, national origin, sexual orientation, age, veteran status, marital status, political affiliation, 
non-disqualifying disability, genetic information, on the basis of actual or perceived gender identity, or 
other protected class. Harassment is defined as conduct that culminates in a tangible adverse 
employment action or is sufficiently severe or pervasive as to create a hostile work environment.

Harassment complaints or allegations will be investigated promptly and where it is determined that such 
inappropriate conduct has occurred, we will act immediately to eliminate the conduct and impose such 
corrective action as is necessary, including disciplinary action up to and including dismissal. 

Sexual harassment is defined as unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other 
verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when:

1) an employee’s acceptance or rejection of such conduct explicitly or implicitly forms the basis for 
an employment decision impacting the employee;

2) submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment 
decisions affecting such individual;

3) such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual’s work 
performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment.

Harassment, other than sexual, is unwelcome intimidation, ridicule, verbal or physical conduct based 
on a person’s protected class where the conduct is sufficiently severe or pervasive as to create a hostile 
work environment or to alter the terms, conditions, or privileges of the employee’s employment.

Harassing conduct may include, but is not limited to, epithets, slurs, negative stereotyping, or 
threatening, intimidating, hostile acts. Written or graphic material which denigrates or indicates hostility 
or aversion toward an individual or group is prohibited from display on the employer’s premises, or 
circulation in the workplace. 

Any employee who feels harassed or who knows of, or suspects, the occurrence of forbidden 
harassment is responsible for informing the Town Manager of the facts regarding such harassment so 
that management may promptly and thoroughly conduct an investigation.  All claims of harassment will 
be thoroughly investigated. If a claim or complaint concerns a problem with the Town Manager and/or 
the Town Manager does not rectify the situation the employee may bring the claim or complaint to the 
Mayor.  

Harassment in the workplace undermines the integrity of the employment relationship, upsets morale, 
and interferes with productivity.  Harassment is unacceptable and will not be tolerated. If an 
investigation confirms that unlawful harassment occurred, the Town will take immediate corrective 
action, including discipline up to and including immediate termination of employment of the harassing 
party as is appropriate. Employees making complaints of harassment are protected against retaliation 
from alleged harassers or other employees.

Section 7.  Solicitation and Acceptance of Gifts and Favors

The proper operation of Town government requires that public officials and employees be independent, 
impartial, and responsible to the people; that governmental decisions and policy be made in the proper 
channels of the governmental structure; that public office not be used for personal gain; and that the 
public have confidence in the integrity of its government. Therefore, no official or employee of the Town 
may willfully receive or accept gifts, favors, discounts, entertainment, or anything of monetary value, at 

DRAFT
is usedis us

sonably interfering witsonably interferi
or offensive working enor offensive working 

midation, ridicule, verbation, ridic
t is sufficiently severe ot is sufficiently 

tions, or privileges of thons, or privileges o

is not limited to, epis not limited to, epi
Written or graphic matWritten or graph

or group is prohibited for group is prohibite

harassed or who knharassed or w
ble for informing the Toble for informing the T
promptly and thorougpromptly and thoroug
ed. If a claim or ced. If a claim or

t rectify the t rectify the



18

any time, from vendors or persons who stand to derive some financial benefits from any action or 
decision of the Town or under circumstances where acceptance may have or may reasonably appear 
to have a tendency to influence that official or employee in the discharge of duties.  

No official or employee may use their position with the Town to secure a contract for the purchase of 
goods or services from any firm or organization in which he or she has a direct financial interest. 

Section 8. Safety

Safety is the responsibility of both the Town and the employees. It is the intent of the Town to provide 
for an ongoing program that assures a safe, healthy work environment for all employees and complies 
with all safety laws and regulations. To that end, each supervisor shall be responsible for:

1. Providing and ensuring safe work procedures and environments;
2. Investigating accidents and preparing accident reports;
3. Immediately report unsafe work conditions to the Town Manager.

Likewise, each Town employee shall be responsible for: 

1. Developing and maintaining safe work habits;
2. Promptly reporting all accidents and injuries; 
3. Pointing out what are believed to be dangerous practices and working conditions; 
4. Assisting with investigations of accidents; 
5. Taking proper care of safety equipment; 
6. Wearing proper clothing and avoiding loose sleeves, cuffs, rings, bracelets and long hair 

around moving machinery; and 
7. Knowing the location and use of fire extinguishers, the location of fire exits and the best 

method for reporting a fire. 

In addition to the above provisions, the Town will maintain a safety manual which details safety-related 
procedures and responsibilities. Employees shall be expected to comply with those provisions. 
Employees who violate such policies and procedures shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and 
including dismissal.

Section 9.  Drug Free Workplace

The Town of Lewisville is committed to a drug-free workplace to maintain a safe and healthy working 
environment for employees and a productive, effective workforce for the Town’s citizens.  The Town 
prohibits employees reporting to work impaired by alcohol, illegal drugs, intentionally and 
inappropriately used prescriptions, over-the-counter drugs, or other chemicals and substances. The 
Town has the right to perform drug testing as needed in order to ensure the safety and well-being of 
citizens and employees.  

Section 10.  Technology Policy

Employees are expected to use Town technology resources responsibly, professionally, and 
respectfully. An employee’s access to technology resources is a function of the business need of their 
position and is not a general employee benefit. All Town technology resources, electronic 
communication devices, and all information and records transmitted by, received on, captured by, or 
stored on technology resources are the property of the Town of Lewisville and, as such, may be 
monitored, audited and inspected for proper use without advance notice to any user.  Employees have 

DRAFT
n Manan Man

s;s;
es; es; 

angerous practices and rous prac
ents; 

pment; ment; 
voiding loose sleeves,ng loose sleeves,

nd 
 use of fire extinguish use of fire extin

fire. fire. 

sions, the Town will mathe Town will ma
bilities. Employees shbilities. Employe

such policies and procsuch policies and pro

rkrkpplacelace

tt



19

no privacy rights when using Town information technology resources. Information that is stored on or 
transmitted to or from Town technological resources may be subject to disclosure pursuant to the North 
Carolina Public Records Law.

The Town prohibits the inappropriate use of technology resources.  Prohibited use includes, but is not 
limited to, inappropriate content; defaming activity; illegal activity; content that violates the Town’s 
harassment, workplace violence, or other related policies; and any use that violates federal, state, or 
local law or regulation.  In addition, the Town prohibits employees from viewing pornography, as 
defined by G.S. 143-805(b), via a government network or government-issued electronic device owned, 
leased, maintained or otherwise controlled by the Town.  Exceptions to this policy may be determined 
for employees as allowed in the course of their official duties such as investigating crimes and other law 
enforcement purposes, etc.

Employees shall not post organizational logos on personal blogs or online profiles.  Employees should 
exercise professional judgment when posting to avoid publishing defamatory statements regarding the 
organization and its employees.

Improper use of technology resources or violations of this policy will subject the employee to disciplinary 
action up to and including termination of employment.

Section 11.  Attendance and Tardiness

The Town depends on employees to provide needed services every day. Regular attendance is 
mandatory and is part of the work standards for all jobs. Excessive absenteeism or chronic 
attendance/tardiness problems may lead to disciplinary action up to and including termination. All 
regular full-time employees, both non-exempt and exempt, are expected to work a 40-hour (or assigned) 
workweek. Hours worked in excess of a 40-hour workweek by an exempt employee is considered 
accomplishment of assigned accountabilities for which there is no additional compensation.

Section 12.  Lactation Support for Nursing Mothers

The Town is committed to a healthy work-life balance for its employees and therefore supports and 
protects new parents who wish to continue pumping breastmilk for their children upon their return to the 
workplace. In accordance with the PUMP for Nursing Mothers Act (PUMP Act) the Town provides 
reasonable break times to express breast milk for the child for up to one year after the child’s birth.  
Employees should advise management if they need break time and an area for this purpose.

The employee storing milk in the workplace refrigerator assumes all responsibility for the safety of the 
milk and the risk of harm for any reason, including improper storage, refrigeration and/or tampering. 

Employees will not be discriminated against or retaliated against for exercising their rights under this 
policy. For more information regarding this issue, see the FLSA guidelines regarding lactation 
provisions.

Section 13.  Use of Tobacco Products

The use of any and all tobacco products is prohibited in Town buildings, vehicles, indoor public spaces, 
parks, and grounds.  

Section 14. Inclement Weather

aa

cy will subject thecy will subj

 needed services eve needed serv
dards for all jobs. Exards for all jobs. 

to disciplinary action isciplinary action 
empt and exempt, are eempt and exempt, are e

of a 40of a 40-hour workweeur wo
untabilities foruntabilities f which thehich

port for Nursing Mothor Nursing Moth

to a healthy workto a healthy work--life lif
ho wish to continue pho wish to continue p

e with the PUMe with the PU
express breexpress bre

nagemnagem



20

Employee safety is the primary factor to be considered when determining whether the Town Hall will be 
closed and personnel dismissed due to inclement weather. If an inclement weather day is declared by 
the Town Manager during business hours the following practices shall be used for timekeeping and pay:

Event Employee Action Pay & Timekeeping

Late Opening

Does not report Must use comp time, vacation leave, or absence of 
leave without pay (LWOP) in that order

Reports to work earlier than announced 
opening time and remains at work for the 
remainder of the day

Receives pay for actual hours worked (AHW) + admin 
leave for the difference between AHW and normal 
workday

Reports to work earlier than announced 
opening time and leaves work prior to normal 
workday departure time

Receives pay for AHW + comp time, vacation or LWOP 
(in that order) for hours between the time the 
employee left work and the end of the normal 
workday + admin leave to make up to the normal 
workday.    If AHW + comp time/vacation/LWOP 
hours are equal to or greater than standard workday 
hours, the employee does not receive admin leave

Reports to work at late opening time and 
remains at work for the remainder of the day

Receives pay for AHW + admin leave for the difference 
between AHW and normal workday

Reports to work at late opening time and 
leaves work prior to normal workday departure
time

Receives pay for AHW + comp time, vacation, or LWOP 
(in that order) for hours between the time the 
employee left work and the end of the normal 
workday + admin leave to make up to the normal 
workday. If AHW + comp time/vacation/LWOP hours 
are equal to or greater than standard workday hours, 
the employee does not receive admin leave

Reports later than announced opening

Receive pay for actual hours worked + admin leave for 
hours between his/her normal workday and delayed 
opening time + comp time, vacation or LWOP (in that 
order).

Is scheduled for vacation or sick leave Still recorded as vacation or sick leave

Town Offices 
Closed

Is scheduled to work Awarded admin leave for the day

Is scheduled for vacation or sick leave Still recorded as vacation or sick leave

Early Closing

Does not report Must use comp time, vacation leave, or absence of 
leave without pay (LWOP) in that order

Reports to work and remains at work until 
early closing

Receives pay for AHW + admin leave for hours 
between his/her normal workday and early closing.  
Admin leave not to exceed normal workday hours

Reports to work, but leaves work earlier than 
early closing time

Receives pay for AHW + comp time, vacation or LWOP 
(in that order)

Is scheduled for vacation or sick leave Still recorded as vacation or sick leave
Section 15. Workplace Violence Prohibited

DacatioacatioDRs later than announced opes later than announced opeDRAFT
r r 

t work at work
admin leave tadmi

y.    If AHW + comy.    If A
rs are equal to orrs are equal to or greater t

ours, the employee does not rours, the employee do

ay
Receives pay for AHW + aReceives pay for AHW + a
between AHW and norbetween AFT
AFg time and d 

l workday  workda departurearture

Receives pay foeives p
(in that orde(in that orde
employeeemploye
workd
woAFAFAFAF

DRD



21

The Town recognizes that the employees are its most important asset, and a safe, secure, and violence-
free workplace is fundamental to their health and well-being during working hours. The Town fosters a 
work environment of respect and healthy conflict resolution.  Employees should expect to be treated 
with courtesy, dignity, and respect by the management, co-workers, and citizens. It is the obligation of 
every employee to contribute to the safety of the work environment by refraining from threats, violence
or activities that may provoke violence; being sensitive to cultural differences in all aspects of personal 
interactions; by conducting Town business with consideration and respect for co-workers and 
customers; and reporting actual or potential threats, both internal and external, immediately. The Town 
has a zero-tolerance policy for violence during working hours, during business involving the Town, or 
while on Town-owned property by any employee, citizen, customer, visitor, or independent contractor.  

Section 16. Surrender of Property

An employee who is suspended or discharged shall be required to return all items of equipment and 
supplies, including uniforms, owned by the Town immediately. 

Section 17. Security Inspections

The offices and computers provided for employees are public property. As such they may be subject to 
search and security inspections by the Town Manager without further consent of the employee. Even 
when there is a legitimate expectation of privacy, it is necessary to balance that expectation against the 
Town's need for supervision, control, and the efficient operation of the workplace. 

Section 18. Weapons Prohibited

No person employed by the Town, either paid or volunteer, is permitted to possess any firearm or other 
dangerous weapon while performing duties, including while on Town property or any Town-owned 
vehicle or in any personal vehicle used by the employee to perform duties.

Violation of this policy will result in disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal for the first offense.

ARTICLE VI.  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

DRAFT
o reto re

e public property. As sue public property. As su
ger without further coner without fu

it is necessary to balanecessary
efficient operation of theefficient operation

ither paid or volunteer, ither paid or volun
ming duties, including ming duties, including

cle used by the employused by the employ

result in disciplinary acresult in disciplinar



22

Section 1.  Eligibility

As an integral part of a comprehensive, competitive compensation program, the Town offers a variety 
of benefits.  Specific benefit programs will vary from time to time and the type, level, eligibility, and cost 
of such programs are subject to change at any time at the sole discretion of the Town.  To that end, 
the Town will periodically review employee benefits and may, with or without notification, modify, delete, 
or add benefits at its own discretion as may be deemed necessary.  

All regular full-time employees of the Town are eligible for employee benefits, subject to any waiting 
period. Regular part-time employees are eligible for pro-rated benefits based on the number of hours 
worked weekly as well as the stipulations in benefit contracts.  Part-time, seasonal employees are 
eligible only for legally mandated benefits such as workers’ compensation and FICA.  

The following employee benefit sections provide a brief summary and are not intended to be an all-
inclusive benefit description. Please contact the Town Manager for more detailed information regarding 
current benefits, eligibility, coverage, and costs. 

Section 2.  Group Health and Hospitalization Insurance

The Town of Lewisville provides basic medical, dental, life, vision and weekly disability insurance for 
full-time employees only. Any dependent (spouse, child, or family) insurance must be requested by the 
employee at which time the employee shall agree to pay 50 percent and the Town shall pay 50 percent 
of the additional family premium. The Town's participation in the employee's family insurance premium 
is only applicable to insurance purchased from the Town's insurer. Information concerning cost and 
benefits shall be available to all employees.

The Federal Government provides Medicare benefits to individuals age 65 and older.  The benefits 
begin the first day of the month that the individual turns 65 years of age.  When an employee becomes 
eligible for Medicare, they may waive their right to participate in the Town’s medical plan and request 
reimbursement for the cost of their medical insurance policy that they have chosen as a supplement to 
their Medicare benefits. This reimbursement shall be done on a monthly basis. 

The amount to be reimbursed will be for the actual monthly cost of the individual’s chosen Medicare 
plan and shall not exceed an amount equal to the Town’s monthly cost to insure an employee of the 
Town under the Town’s current medical plan. 

Section 3.  Life and Accidental Death Insurance

The Town provides life and accidental insurance for each full-time employee subject to the stipulations 
of the insurance contract. Life and accidental death insurance will be provided by the Town in an amount 
approved by the Town Council, subject to appropriation.

Section 4.  Retirement

The Town provides a retirement income plan for regular full-time and part-time employees under the 
North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System. All regular employees assigned to 
work more than 1,000 hours in any 12-month period are required to participate as of the first day of 
employment. Currently, employees contribute 6% of salary (deducted from employee paycheck), while 
the Town pays an amount determined annually by the Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement 
System and as approved by the North Carolina General Assembly. The retirement plan is known as a 

DRAFT
anan

r more r mor

cece

tal, life, vision and weeal, life, vision and wee
child, or family) insurad, or fami

ee to pay 50 percent anee to pay 50 pe
participation in the emparticipation in the 

d from the m the TTown's insuown's insu
ees.

s Medicare benefits to s Medicare benefits
that the individual turnsat the individual turns

ay waive thve their right to peir right to p
t of their medical insurat of their medical 

This reimbursement shThis reimbursement s

ursed will be for ursed will be fo
an amount ean amount 

t medt med



23

“defined benefit plan” meaning that one can count on a guaranteed percentage of your income at 
retirement. The percentage will depend on your average final compensation, years of service, and the 
age at the time of drawing benefits. 

Section 5.  Supplemental Retirement Benefits

The Town provides supplemental retirement benefits by participating in additional retirement programs 
such as 401(k) and/or 457 plans. Employees have the option to participate in the voluntary supplemental 
retirement plans and may elect to have additional contributions withheld from paycheck to the extent 
permitted by law.

The Town’s total financial participation in approved retirement programs for each full-time employee is 
determined annually and is part of the budget ordinance. 

Section 6.  Social Security

The Town, to the extent of its lawful authority and power, has extended Social Security benefits for its 
eligible employees and eligible groups and classes of such employees.

Section 7.  Workers' Compensation

All employees of the Town (full-time, part-time, and temporary) are covered by the North Carolina 
Workers' Compensation Act.  Workers’ Compensation benefits are paid under this coverage if you 
have an eligible on-the-job injury or illness.

Responsibility for claiming compensation under the Workers’ Compensation Act is on the injured 
employee.  All employees are required to report any injuries arising out of and in the course of 
employment to the Town Manager immediately at the time of the injury in order that appropriate action 
may be taken at once.  The Town will assist the employee in filing the claim.  Under NC Workers’ 
Compensation law, the Town has the right to direct medical care for employees who suffer work-related 
injuries or illnesses.

A disability of over seven calendar days is required before payment of Workers’ Compensation salary 
benefits under the Workers’ Compensation Act begins. An employee may use accrued sick leave or 
vacation leave during the first seven calendar day waiting period. If the work-related disability exceeds 
seven calendar days, the employee will be placed on Workers’ Compensation Leave. While out on 
workers’ compensation leave of absence, an employee will retain all accumulated sick or annual leave.

During recovery from an accident, an employee may be able to work on light-duty assignments for all 
or part of the workday. Failure to report to a modified or light-duty assignment may result in disciplinary 
action and/or the workers’ compensation salary supplement may be stopped.

Before returning to work, a statement from the attending physician must be submitted to the Town 
Manager giving permission for the employee to resume regular duties.

Upon return to work, the employee’s salary will be computed on the basis of the last salary plus any 
salary increase to which the employee would have been entitled based upon performance and other 
compensation policies.

This provision also applies to reactions to smallpox vaccinations administered to Town employees 

DRAFTextended Soextend
mployees.mployees.

and temporary) are cotemporar
ensation benefits are pensation bene

on under the Workersr the Workers
ired to report any injuired to report a

immediately at the timimmediately at the 
own will assist the empwn will assist the em

has the right to direct mhe right to direct m

en calendar dayen calendar days is res is re
ers’ Compensatioers’ Compensa

st seven cast seven ca
ployeeployee

bb



24

under Section 304 of the Homeland Security Act.  Such reactions shall be treated the same as any 
other workers’ compensation claim as regards leave and salary continuation.

Section 8.  Unemployment Compensation

In accordance with Public Law 94-566 and subsequent amendments, local governments are covered 
by unemployment insurance.  Town employees who are terminated due to a reduction in force or 
released from Town service may apply for benefits through the local Employment Security Commission 
office, where a determination of eligibility will be made.

Section 9. Use of Parks and Recreation Rental Facilities

An employee may reserve a rental facility and use it free of charge for one private usage per fiscal year. 
The employee will be responsible for the clean-up of the facility after use.

Section 10. Employee Assistance Program

The Town of Lewisville has contracted with the Piedmont Triad Regional Council as a resource for 
helping you and your family in times of need. The EAP provides free, confidential counseling to 
employees. The Employee Assistance Program can be accessed by contacting the McLaughlin Young 
Group by phone at 1-800-633-3353, or 704-529-1428.

ARTICLE VII.  HOLIDAYS AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE

DRAFTTriad Regional CoTriad Regio
P P provides free, conprovides free

accessed by contactinaccessed by contact
8.8.



25

Section 1.  Policy

The policy of the Town is to provide vacation leave, sick leave, and holiday leave to all full-time 
employees, and to provide proportionately equivalent amounts to employees having average work 
weeks of different lengths. Part-time regular and temporary employees will receive a pro-rated amount 
based on the proportion of their scheduled hours divided by the number of hours in the basic workweek.

Section 2.  Holidays

The Town of Lewisville observes the same holiday schedule as designated by the North Carolina State 
Government Holiday Schedule, currently with twelve paid holidays per year. The following are the 
designated holidays with full pay for employees of the Town:

New Year's Day Labor Day
Martin Luther King Jr. Birthday Veteran’s Day
Good Friday Thanksgiving Thursday & Friday
Memorial Day      Christmas (three days)
Independence Day

Christmas holidays will coincide with North Carolina State government days observed. 

When any recognized holiday falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be observed as the holiday.  
When any recognized holiday falls on Sunday, the following Monday shall be observed as the holiday.

The holiday is equivalent to a full day’s pay for full-time employees. In order to receive a paid holiday, 
an employee must have worked the day before and the day after the holiday(s) or have been given 
approved leave.

When an employee is required to work on a holiday, the employee is entitled to take another day off to 
replace the scheduled holiday. Each hour worked on the holiday earns one hour of time off.

Section 3.  Floating Holiday

Employees will earn one floating holiday annually on the anniversary of their employment with the Town 
in recognition of their continued service. A floating holiday allows employees to have an additional paid 
day off to use at their discretion for things such as religious observances, parent-teacher conferences, 
or to supplement vacation or sick leave. The use of floating holidays should be requested in advance.  
Floating holidays cannot be carried over to the next fiscal year, cannot be cashed out if not taken, and 
will not be paid upon termination of employment. Days will be equivalent to the employee’s normal 
workday.

Section 4.  Holidays: Effect on Other Types of Leave

Regular holidays which occur during a vacation, sick or other leave period of any employee shall not be 
considered as vacation, sick, or other leave.

An employee on leave without pay on the day immediately preceding or following a holiday shall lose 
the holiday as well as pay for that day. 

Section 5.  Vacation Leave

yy
ng Thursdayng Th

as (three days)s (three da

State government daysState government days

y, the preceding Friday sy, the precedin
y, the following Mondaythe following Mon

pay fp y or fullull--time employtime emplo
day before and the daday before and 

d to work on a holiday,work on a holiday,
day. Each hour workedday. Each hour w

HolidayHolid

ating holidayating holida
d servid servi



26

Vacation leave is a privilege granted to employees by the Town. Vacation leave is intended to be used 
for rest and relaxation, school appointments, and other personal needs. Vacation leave may also be 
used by employees who wish to observe religious holidays other than those granted by the Town.  The 
supervisor will attempt to arrange the work schedule so that an employee may be granted vacation 
leave for the religious observance.  Vacation leave for religious observance may be denied only when 
granting the leave would create an undue hardship for the Town.  Vacation leave accrues from the first 
day of employment with the accrual rate determined by the length of service. 

Section 6.  Vacation Leave: Use by Probationary Employees

Employees serving a probationary period following initial employment may accumulate vacation leave 
but shall not be permitted to take vacation leave during the first six months of employment unless 
approved by the Town Manager. 

Section 7.  Vacation Leave: Manner of Taking

Employees shall be granted the use of earned vacation leave upon request in advance at those times 
designated by the supervisor which will least obstruct normal operations of the Town.  Supervisors are 
responsible for ensuring that approved vacation leave does not hinder the effectiveness of service 
delivery.  Vacation may be taken in half-hour (1/2 hour) increments.  Failure to request or take 
vacation leave without prior approval may result in disciplinary action. Notwithstanding the procedures 
in the Article, employees will use accrued comp time before using accrued vacation leave.

Section 8.  Vacation Leave: Accrual Rate

Each full-time employee of the Town shall earn vacation at the following schedule, prorated by the 
average number of hours in the workweek:
    

Years of Service Days Accrued Per Year
0 – 3 years 10 days
3 – 5 years 12 days
5 – 10 years 15 days
10 – 15 years 18 days
15 + years 20 days

Section 9.  Vacation Leave: Maximum Accumulation

Vacation leave may be accumulated without any applicable maximum until June 30 of each year.  
Effective the first payroll in the new fiscal year, any employee with a vacation leave balance in excess 
of 240 hours shall have that excess balance converted to sick leave so that only 240 hours of vacation 
are carried forward to July 1 of the new fiscal year.  Employees are not eligible to receive pay for excess 
vacation time not taken at this conversion time.

Section 10.  Vacation Leave:  Payment upon Separation

An employee who has successfully completed the six-month probationary period will normally be paid 
for accumulated vacation leave upon separation not to exceed 240 hours carried over from the previous
year plus the month to date current year accumulation, provided the employee provides a two-week 
notice for non-exempt employees, and four-week notice for all exempt employees, to the supervisor.
Additionally, the employee must work each scheduled workday during the two or four-week notice 

D15 + year15 + yearDR5 – 10 yearsyeaDRAFTe upon request ine upon req
mal operations of the Tmal operations of

e does not hinder the e does not hinder the
2 hou2 hour) increments.  Fncrements.  F

 disciplinary actionciplinary a . No
time before using accrtime before u

te

n shall earn vacation an shall earn vaca
orkweek:orkwe RDRerviceRRDaysRRRR00 –– 33 yearsyears

DRRRR3 – 5 yearsyearDRRRRDR
101 – 15 year yeDDD



27

period unless provided an exception by the Town Manager. 

An employee failing to give and work the two-week notice required by this section shall forfeit payment 
for accumulated leave.  The notice requirement may be waived by the Town Manager when deemed 
to be in the best interest of the Town.  Employees who are involuntarily separated may receive payment 
for accumulated vacation leave subject to the 240-hour maximum.  Employees dismissed for criminal 
conduct may be determined ineligible to receive vacation pay.

If an employee voluntarily terminates his/her employment with the Town and has been with the Town 
less than one fiscal year, no accumulated leave will be paid upon termination of employment.

Section 11.  Vacation Leave: Payment upon Death

The estate of an employee who dies while employed by the Town shall be entitled to payment of all the 
accumulated vacation leave credited to the employee's account not to exceed the 240 hours carried 
over from the previous year plus the month to date current year accumulation.

Section 12.  Sick Leave

Sick leave benefits are a privilege granted to employees by the Town, not a right, and may be used only 
for the purposes described in this policy.  Sick leave may be granted to a probationary or regular 
employee absent from work for any of the following reasons: sickness, bodily injury, required physical 
or dental examinations or treatment, or exposure to a contagious disease, when continuing work might 
jeopardize the health of others.  Sick leave is not intended to provide time off for recreation, personal 
reasons, or to extend vacations. Abuse of sick leave privileges will subject the employee to disciplinary 
action.

Sick leave may be used when an employee must care for a member of his or her immediate family who 
is ill. For the purposes of this benefit, "Immediate family" shall be defined as spouse, child, parent, 
grandparent, grandchild, and sibling. This also includes various combinations of step, in-law and 
adopted relationships.

Notification of the desire to take sick leave should be submitted to the employee’s supervisor prior to 
the leave.  If an employee is unable to report to work, the employee must notify their supervisor as 
soon as practical after the beginning of the regular schedule workday. If the employee cannot call, the 
employee must have someone else call. If it is necessary for an employee to leave the work site because 
of illness, the employee must notify their supervisor before leaving.

The employee is responsible for keeping their supervisor informed on a regular basis of their status and 
when they expect to return to work.  Supervisors may require that employees obtain a physician’s 
statement attesting to one’s capacity to resume work duties.  Failure to properly notify the supervisor 
and/or Town Manager or provide necessary medical documentation may result in disciplinary action up 
to and including dismissal.

The Town has the discretion to send an employee home on sick leave if he/she exhibits signs of a 
serious contagious illness or to send the employee to a physician to obtain a fitness for duty note before 
returning to work. 

Employees retiring from local government service cannot use sick leave as time away prior to retirement 
except for the two weeks preceding the LGERS effective date of retirement.
Section 13.  Sick Leave: Accrual Rate and Accumulation

DRAFT
ccumulccum

by the Town, not a righby the Town, not a ri
ve may be granted tove may be granted to

g reasons: sickness, beasons: sic
e to a contagious diseae to a contagio

s not intended to providnot intended to pr
sick leave privileges wieave privileges wi

mployee must care for mployee must care 
benefit, "Immediate famenefit, "Immediate fam

d siblingng. This also inc. This also inc

re to take sick leave sre to take sick leave s
ee is unable to ree is unable to

beginning ofbeginning of
else celse c

ifif



28

Sick leave shall accrue at a rate of one day per month of service or twelve 8-hour days per year for full-
time employees. Regular part-time employees will accumulate sick leave pro-rated on the number of 
hours scheduled each month. Temporary employees do not earn sick leave.

Sick leave will be cumulative for an indefinite period of time. All sick leave accumulated by an employee 
shall end and terminate without compensation when the employee resigns or is separated from the 
Town.

Sick leave may be converted upon retirement for service credit consistent with the provisions of the 
North Carolina Local Government Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS).

Section 14.  Transfer of Sick Leave from Previous Employer

The Town will accept sick leave balances when documented by a previous employer when the 
employee worked for a previous employer covered by the State or Local Government Retirement 
System and the employee did not withdraw accumulated contributions from that employer when leaving 
employment. The sick leave will be treated as though it were earned with the Town of Lewisville. The 
sick leave amount must be certified by the previous employer and it is the employee’s responsibility to 
provide documentation from the previous employer within two years of the last working day with the
previous employer.

Section 15.  Sick Leave: Medical Certification

An employee's supervisor may require a physician's certificate stating the nature of the employee's or 
employee’s family member’s illness and the employee's capacity to resume duties, for each occasion 
on which an employee uses sick leave or whenever the supervisor observes a "pattern of absenteeism."  
The employee may be required to submit to such medical examination or inquiry as the Town deems 
necessary.  The Town Manager shall be responsible for the application of this provision to the end that:

1) Employees shall not be on duty when they might endanger their health or the health of other 
employees; and

2) There will be no abuse of leave privileges.

Claiming sick leave under false pretense to obtain a day off with pay shall subject the employee to 
disciplinary action up to and including dismissal.

Section 16.  Leave Pro-Rated

Holiday leave, vacation leave, and sick leave earned by regular employees having a workweek or work 
shift with fewer hours than a 40-hour workweek or 8-hour work shift, shall be determined proportional 
to the 40-hour employee. This is done so that the same percentage in time off with pay is granted. 
Calculations are made as follows:

1. The number of hours granted annually to 40-hour employees shall be divided by 2080 hours (the 
number of hours annually in a 40-hour workweek). This percentage of time off is then applied to the 
annual number of hours worked by employees with fewer hours than 40 hour per week employees. 

2. The proportion obtained is earned and deducted from the employee accrual on an hour for hour 
basis. 

y y 
e or Le or 

utions from ution
e earned with thee earned w

oyer and it is the employer and it is the
hin hin two years of the latwo years of the 

n

hysician's certificate stcian's certificate st
d the employee's capathe employee's capa

e or whenever the supee or whenever the
submit to such medicasubmit to such me

r shall be responsible foshall be responsible fo

l not be on duty when tl not be on duty 
andand

no abuse of no ab leavelea

se prese pre
dd



29

Example: A 40 hour per week employee with 5 years of service is entitled to 120 hours of vacation leave 
annually (15 days) which is 5.77% of their total time. An employee working 1560 hours annually with 5 
years of service is entitled to (1560 x 5.77% = 90) 90 hours of vacation leave annually.

Section 17.  Personal Days

Employees may take up to five days each year as Personal Days charged to the employee's sick leave 
balance. Personal days do not accrue beyond the fiscal year end. The five personal days are part of 
the twelve days of sick leave earned each year and not in addition to the twelve days earned.

Section 18.  Bereavement Leave

An employee may be granted 24 hours of bereavement leave per fiscal year at full pay granted when 
making funeral arrangements, traveling to and attending the funeral of an immediate family member.
The 24 hours of leave are in addition to other vacation and sick leave accruals. Such leave time may 
not be carried over from one fiscal year to the next. Additional time to settle affairs of the family may be 
taken with the approval of the department head and should be charged to vacation leave. Leave to 
attend funerals of other than the immediate family may be granted by the department head and charged 
to vacation leave or personal days. 

Section 19.  Family Medical Leave

Until the Town has 50 employees, the provisions of the Federal Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) do 
not apply. Employees of the Town may be granted FMLA leave when they become eligible.  They 
become eligible when the Town employs fifty or more employees. However, the Town may elect to 
provide some of the same provisions.

Section 20. Leave of Absence

A regular full-time or part-time employee who has completed the probationary period may be granted a 
leave of absence without pay typically for up to twelve months by the Town Manager for various reasons 
including medical leave, sickness/disability of immediate family member, continuing of education, 
special work that will permit the Town to benefit by the experience gained or the work performed, or for 
other reasons deemed justified by the Town Manager. 

Eligible employees will be required to exhaust their vacation leave, sick leave, and any accrued 
compensatory time prior to requesting leave without pay. 

No benefits are accrued during an unpaid leave of absence. Employees forfeit all holiday pay that occurs 
during the leave of absence. The employee will reimburse the Town for the cost of health insurance to 
be paid during the leave without pay if the employee is not on payroll a minimum of ½ the working days 
of the calendar month. Employees are prohibited from engaging in outside employment during a leave 
of absence period. 

The employee shall apply in writing to their supervisor for leave no later than 30 days prior to the 
effective date of the leave. The 30-day notice may be waived when in the doctor’s opinion the employee 
must leave their job earlier for medical reasons. The request should include the reason for leave, date 
expected for beginning leave, duration of leave, and the expected date to return to work. The Town 
Manager approves any leave of absence request. 
The employee is obligated to return to duty within or at the end of the time determined appropriate by 

DRAFT
l ol o

eave aceave
me to settle me to

d be charged to v be charge
granted by the departmgranted by the de

sions of the Federal ons of the Federal Fa
be granted FMLA leavanted FMLA leav

oys fifty or more employs fifty or more emplo

e

me me employee who hasemployee wh
t pay t pay typically for up to ally for up to

ve, sickness/disabilitye, sickness/disability
mit the Town to bmit the Town to

ied by the Tied by the 



30

the Town Manager. If the employee decides not to return to work, the supervisor shall be notified 
immediately. Failure to report at the expiration of a leave of absence, unless an extension has been 
requested in writing and approved, shall be considered a voluntary resignation. The length of the leave 
will be determined by the circumstances surrounding the situation and each case will be considered on 
its own merit. 

The Town cannot guarantee reinstatement to the employee’s former position upon return from a leave 
of absence. However, every effort will be made to place an employee in their former position. Before 
being considered for a return to work after a medical leave of absence, employees must provide the 
Town with a physician’s note stating that he/she is physically able to perform the job.

Section 21.  Leave Without Pay

Leave without pay is an administrative decision and may be granted by the Town Manager. An 
employee must exhaust all applicable other leave (vacation, sick, comp time) before being placed on 
leave without pay status. An employee will not be permitted to rotate in and out of leave without pay 
status and paid leave status. While on leave without pay, an employee shall not accrue leave benefits. 
Under leave without pay status, employees are responsible for paying both the Town and employee 
contributions for premiums or benefit packages if they wish to maintain coverage, subject to any 
regulation by the Town Council and the regulations of the insurance carrier/benefit provider. 

Section 22. Workers' Compensation Leave

Under the North Carolina Workers’ Compensation Act, employees may be compensated for absence 
from work due to injury or illness covered by the Act, subject to the following leave provisions:

1) There is a mandatory 7 calendar day waiting period before Workers’ Compensation salary 
benefits begin. For this initial 7-day waiting period, employees may use accrued sick leave, 
vacation leave, compensatory time, or leave without pay.  Beginning on the 8th calendar day 
following the injury or illness, employees who have not returned to work shall be placed in a 
Workers’ Compensation Leave Without Pay status. Accrued leave cannot be used while in 
Leave Without Pay status. 

2) Employees receiving Workers’ Compensation benefits will not accrue vacation leave, sick leave 
or paid holidays and their local government retirement and 401k benefits are not paid during this 
period. Employees will retain all accumulated sick and vacation leave.  

3) An employee on Workers' Compensation leave may be eligible for health benefits for three 
months.  After three months the employee may elect to continue health benefits by electing 
COBRA. Other insurance and payroll deductions are the responsibility of the employee and the 
employee must make those payments for continued coverage of that benefit. 

4) Upon reinstatement, an employee’s salary will be computed on the basis of the last salary plus 
any salary increase to which the employee would have been entitled during the absence covered 
by Workers’ Compensation benefits. 

5) After returning to work, employees shall be required to use sick or vacation leave for any 
additional absences for doctor visits, physical therapy, and other required medical care except 
where any full or partial workday absence may be eligible for Workers’ Compensation payment. 

6) The Town of Lewisville’s personnel policies shall continue to apply to an employee on Workers’ 

DRAFT
omom

otate inotate 
mployee shalmploye
for paying both tfor paying

wish to maintain covwish to mainta
he insurance carrier/behe insurance carrier/b

sation Act, employees ation Act, employe
by the Act, subject to the Act, subject to th

endar day waiting perioendar day waiting
tial 7tial 7-day waiting perioy waiting p

satory time, or leave watory time, or leave w
illness, ems, employees whployees wh

sation Leave Without Psation Leave Wi
ay status. ay sta

ving Workers’ Comving Workers’ C
their local gtheir local g

retain retain 



31

Compensation leave in the same manner as they would apply to an employee who continues to 
work or is absent while on some other form of leave. 

7) An employee is prohibited from moonlighting or performing other outside work during any kind 
of leave including workers’ compensation leave. 

8) The ability to return to work will be assessed individually, on a case-by-case basis. The Town 
will engage in an interactive process with the employee to carefully analyze whether 
accommodations requested are reasonable while not creating an undue hardship to the Town. 
If business necessity requires the Town to fill the position prior to the employee’s return to work, 
the employee will receive priority consideration for qualified job openings for 6 months after their 
medical release to work. 

9) Before an employee may return to work from a Workers’ Compensation injury at full or light duty, 
the employee must provide a physician’s note or Fitness for Duty certification to his/her 
supervisor indicating that he/she is released and capable of resuming duties, and what, if any 
restrictions are in place. The decision to allow an employee back on light duty and to determine 
the location of the light duty rests with the Town.

Section 23.  Military Leave 

The Town supports employees wishing to serve their country through participation in the military 
services as a reservist. The Town will fully comply with the guidelines of USERRA and other related 
federal regulations. In accordance with federal and state laws, the Town provides military leave to 
employees who are members of a United States Armed Forces Reserve organization or National Guard 
for absences to perform military duty, whether voluntary or involuntary.

Employees who are members of an Armed Forces Reserve organization or National Guard shall be 
granted ten (10) days per year for military duty (including active duty, active-duty training, inactive duty 
training, such as scheduled drills, full-time National Guard federal duty, fitness-for-duty examination, 
and funeral honors duty).  

Employees should submit a request for military leave to the Town Manager as soon as possible in 
advance of the military duty.  The request should be in writing and should be accompanied by a copy 
of the military orders. Employees must report back to work as soon after military duty as possible, 
consistent with federal and state laws. If the reason for the employee’s delay is not related to military 
duties, the employee is subject to the personnel policies and practices normally applied to employees 
with unexcused absences.

Employees may choose whether to use earned compensatory time, accrued vacation leave (leave with 
pay), leave without pay, or some combination thereof for these absences, and the provisions of that 
leave shall apply.

If the compensation received while on military leave is less than the salary that would have been earned 
during this same period as a Town employee, the employee shall receive partial compensation equal 
to the difference.  The effect will be to maintain the employee's salary at the normal level during this 
period. If such duty is required beyond the twelve workdays, the employee shall be eligible to take 
accumulated vacation leave or be placed in a leave without pay status, and the provisions of that leave 
shall apply.  While taking military leave, the employee's leave credits and other benefits shall continue 
to accrue as if the employee physically remained with the Town during this period.  Employees who 
are eligible for military leave have all job rights specified by the Vietnam Veterans Readjustment Act.

s  
of resuof re

oyee back onoyee b

e their country througheir countr
mply with the guidelinesmply with the g

ral and state lal and state laws, thaws
States Armed Forces Res Armed Forces Re

hether voluntary or invoether voluntary or invo

an Armed Forcesan Armed Forces ReseR
or military duty (includinr military duty (includi

drills, fullfull--time Nationaltime National

bmit a request for milbmit a request for mil
uty.  The requesuty.  The requ

ployees muployees mu
ate lawate law



32

Section 24.  Reinstatement Following Military Service

Employees who are separated or discharged from military service under honorable conditions and who 
apply for reinstatement within the established time limits are reinstated to the same position or one of 
like status, seniority, and pay with the Town. If, during military service, an employee is disabled to the 
extent that the duties of the original position cannot be performed, the employee is reinstated to a 
position with duties compatible with the disability, if available. The employee’s salary upon 
reinstatement is based on the salary rate just prior to leave, plus any general salary increase(s) 
implemented while on leave. The addition of a performance salary increase may be considered. 
Employees who are eligible for military leave have all job rights specified by the Uniformed Services 
Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA). 

An employee’s entitlement to the provisions of this section terminates upon the occurrence of any of 
the following events:

1) Such employee is separated from uniformed service with dishonorable or bad conduct discharge; 

2) Such employee is separated from uniformed service under other than honorable conditions, as 
characterized pursuant to regulations prescribed by the Secretary concerned; 

3) The Town’s circumstances have so changed as to make such reemployment impossible or 
unreasonable; 

4) Such employee gives clear written notice s/he has no intention of returning to work.

Section 25.  Civil Leave

A Town employee called for jury duty or subpoenaed for the federal or state governments, or a 
subdivision thereof, shall receive leave with pay for such duty during the required absence without 
charge to accumulated leave. An employee who receives notice of jury duty must notify their supervisor 
immediately in order to make arrangements to cover the absence. The employee may keep fees and 
travel allowances received for jury or witness duty in addition to regular compensation; except, that 
employees must turn over to the Town any witness fees or travel allowance awarded by that court for 
court appearances in connection with official duties. While on civil leave, benefits and leave shall accrue 
as though on regular duty.  Employees required to be in court for their own case, defendant or plaintiff, 
must use vacation leave or compensatory time.

Section 26.  Parental School Leave

A Town employee who is a parent, guardian, or person standing in loco parentis (in place of the parent) 
may take up to four hours of unpaid leave annually to involve him or herself in school activities of his or 
her child(ren).  This leave is subject to the three following conditions:

1) The leave must be taken at a time mutually agreed upon by the employee and the Town;

2) The Town may require the employee to request the leave in writing at least 48 hours prior to the 
time of the desired leave; and

3) The Town may require written verification from the child’s school that the employee was involved 
at the school during the leave time.

DRAFTshonorable shon

under other than hounder other th
y the Secretary concerny the Secretary conce

ed as to make such as to mak

ice s/he has no intentio/he has no intentio

ury duty or subpoenaery duty or subpoena
ceive leave with pay foeave with pay fo

ve. ve. An employee who reAn employee
make arrangements tomake arrangements t

ived for jury or witneived for jury or witne
er to the Town aner to the Town 

ction wction with ofith o
mployemploye



33

Paid leave (vacation time) taken by an employee to attend school activities of his or her child shall count 
toward the fulfillment of this provision by the Town.

Section 27.  Administrative Leave

A Town employee may be placed on administrative leave with or without pay pending investigations 
including but not limited to motor vehicle accidents, alleged inappropriate actions on the job, or any 
other matter deemed necessary by the Town. Administrative leave is not to be construed as disciplinary 
action. 

ARTICLE VIII. DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS



34

Section 1. Policy 

Probationary employees who have not attained regular status and temporary employees may be 
dismissed immediately for unsatisfactory job performance or improper personal conduct violations. 
There is no right of appeal. 

A non-probationary employee may be reprimanded, suspended, demoted or dismissed for improper 
personal conduct or unsatisfactory performance of job duties, as described in this Article; however, 
nothing contained herein shall replace, change or modify the employment-at-will status as first stated 
in Article 1, Section 2 of this policy.

The Town generally administers a progressive disciplinary procedure in which discipline is administered 
in proportion to the degree of severity and frequency of unacceptable employee behavior. Progressive 
discipline is intended to allow the employee the opportunity to correct deficiencies in work behavior by 
clarifying and prescribing to the employee the appropriate behavior. 

Section 2. Procedure 

Whenever, in the supervisor’s judgment, employee performance, attitude, work habits, or personal 
conduct falls below the acceptable level, the supervisor shall inform the employee promptly and 
specifically of such performance problem(s) and give counsel and assistance. A reasonable period of 
time for improvement may be allowed before initiating disciplinary action and is within the discretion of 
the supervisor. 

The Town generally follows the principles of progressive discipline. However, the supervisor, in 
consultation with the Town Manager, may determine the appropriate level of discipline, separate and 
apart from the progressive discipline, taking into consideration the particular incident. Disciplinary 
actions will be recorded in the employee’s personnel file. 

Disciplinary action may consist of any of the following, not necessarily in this order:

Written Warning 

Written Warning with Condition(s) of Continued Employment

Suspension 

Demotion

Dismissal 

Written Warning(s) 

A documented discussion of specific work-related concerns indicating unacceptable personal conduct 
or performance deficiencies will be made with corrective measures to be followed. The receipt of a 
written warning should be acknowledged in writing by the employee. If the employee refuses to properly 
acknowledge the receipt of any written warning, the supervisor issuing the written warning shall note 
the employee’s refusal on the employee disciplinary report and have an additional supervisor sign the 
disciplinary report as a witness to the fact that the employee refused to sign the disciplinary report. 
Written Warning with Condition(s) of Continued Employment 

DRAFTormance, attitude, woormance, attitud
isor shall inform the eisor shall inform the

e counsel and assistane counsel and assistan
ting disciplinary action disciplina

es of progressive discf progressive disc
may determine the appray determine the appr

e, taking into considee, taking into co
ployee’s personnel file. ployee’s personnel f

st of any of the followinny of the followin

with Condition(s) with Condition(



35

If an employee continues to perform his or her duties in an unsatisfactory manner, after the receipt of a 
written warning about deficiencies in the employees’ work performance, or if the employee engages in 
improper personal conduct that involves a mitigating factor or a combination of mitigating factors 
deemed by management to warrant disciplinary action short of dismissal, the employee may be issued 
a written warning that contains conditions with which the employee must comply in order to maintain 
his or her employment with the Town. These conditions of employment may include, but are not limited 
to, performance requirements as well as a defined goal for the employee to attain in order to 
demonstrate that the employee is conducting him/herself in a manner that meets the expectations of 
the Town of Lewisville.

The issuance of a written warning by the Town to an employee is for the convenience of the 
Town and is not a precondition of an adverse employment action. An employee may have an 
adverse employment action (including but not limited to suspension, demotion or dismissal) 
taken against them without prior written warning by the Town.

Suspension 

If the behavioral infraction is extremely serious to the Town, other employees, or the public, the 
employee may be suspended without warning. 

Demotion 

An employee may also be demoted for unsatisfactory performance or for improper personal conduct 
without prior warnings (s). Before an employee is demoted for either reason, the Department Director 
shall submit a written summary of facts and circumstances leading to the decision to the Town Manager
for approval to proceed. The report should include previous disciplinary action taken, previous written 
warnings and other documents that support the decision.

Dismissal 

The Department Head recommending dismissal shall discuss the recommendation with the Town 
Manager. The Town Manager shall schedule and conduct a meeting with the employee and the 
Department Head, In the meeting, the employee should be provided notice of the recommended 
dismissal, including specific reasons for the recommendation and summarize the information supporting 
that decision. The employee shall have an opportunity to respond to the proposed dismissal, to refute 
information supporting the dismissal action and to offer information or arguments to support his/her 
position. During this meeting, no outside parties may participate. If the employee is dismissed, the Town 
Manager shall transmit to the employee written notice of the dismissal stating the reasons for the actions 
and the employee’s appeal rights under the Town’s grievance procedure.

Section 3. Non-Disciplinary Suspension 

During the investigation, hearing or trial of an employee on any criminal charge, or during an 
investigation related to alleged detrimental personal conduct, or during the course of any civil action 
involving an employee when suspension would, in the opinion of the Department Head or Town
Manager, be in the best interest of the Town, the employee may be suspended for part or all of the 
proceeding as a non-disciplinary action. In such cases, the Town Manager may temporarily relieve the 
employee of all duties and responsibilities and place the employee on unpaid or paid leave for the 
duration of the suspension. If the employee is reinstated following the suspension such employee shall 
not lose any compensation or benefits to which otherwise the employee would have been entitled had 
the suspension not occurred. If the employee is terminated following suspension, the employee shall 

DRAFTwnwn, other emplo, other 

factory performance ofactory perform
ee is demoted for eithee is demoted for e

d circumstances leadingumstances leading
uld include previous diuld include previous di

upport the decision.upport the decisi

commending dismissacommending dis
anager anag shall schedulehall schedu

the meeting, the emthe meeting, the em
fic reasons for thefic reasons for 

e shall havee shall have
smissasmissa



36

not be eligible for any pay from the date of unpaid suspension. 

Section 4. Administrative Guidelines 

As mentioned above, the Town will determine the appropriate level of discipline for both unsatisfactory 
job performance and conduct issues. Examples of both unsatisfactory job performance and improper 
personal conduct which could result in discipline are listed below. 

(B) Unsatisfactory Job Performance 

Unsatisfactory job performance occurs when an employee fails to meet job requirements or 
performance standards as established by the Department Director or Town Manager. This policy does 
not require that progressive warnings address the same type of unsatisfactory performance. 

The following list is illustrative, and is not an exhaustive or exclusive list, of the types of unsatisfactory 
job performance that may lead to the termination of an individual’s employment with the Town:

1. Demonstrated Inefficiency, negligence, or incompetence in the performance of duties;
2. Physical or mental incapacity to perform duties after reasonable accommodation;
3. Careless, negligent, or improper use of town property, or equipment;
4. Failure to maintain satisfactory and harmonious working relationships with the public and 

other town employees;
5. Absence without approved leave;
6. Repeated improper use of sick or other leave privileges;
7. Habitual pattern of failure to report to duty at the assigned time and place;
8. Violation of written departmental regulations;
9. Failure to obtain or maintain a current license or certification required by law as a 

condition for performing the job;
10. Habitual tardiness; 
11. Deliberate damage to or destruction of town or private property, or the property of other 

employees while on duty;
12. Failure to produce work of acceptable quality, quantity or accuracy over a period of time;
13. Sleeping on the job;
14. Repeated or serious incident of unsafe behavior or violation of established safety rules;
15. Failure to report personal injury or damage to Town owned property or equipment; 
16. Habitually leaving the job or work area without permission before the end of the of the 

regular work day;
17. Refusal to accept a reasonable and proper assignment from an authorized supervisor 

(Insubordination);
18. Violating the privacy of records or property or offices under the responsibility of a fellow 

employee or supervisor without express permission;
19. Failure to complete work within time frames established in work plan.

(B) Improper Personal Conduct 

An employee who engages in a single act of improper personal conduct is subject to dismissal from 
employment with the Town of Lewisville regardless of whether the employee has previously received a 
warning of any kind during his/her career with the Town. The following list is illustrative, and is not an 
exhaustive or exclusive list, of the types of improper personal conduct that will lead to the termination 
of an individual’s employment with the Town:

DRAFT
lili

s emplos emp

oompetence in the mpetence
ties after reasonable ties after reason

own property, or equipmown property, or equ
rmonious working relrmonious wo atiati

;;
k or other or other leave privilegleave priv

o report to duty at the aort to duty at the a
rtmental regulationstmental regulations;;

maintain a current licemaintain a curre
ming the jobming the job;

s; 
mage to or destruction oo or destruction o

while on duty;while on duty;
produce work of accepproduce work of acce

g on the jobg on t ;
or serious incideor serious inci

port personaport persona
ng theng the



37

1. Conviction of a felony or conviction of commission of a crime involving moral turpitude, 
or of a crime which adversely reflects upon the ability to perform assigned duties;

2. Willful misuse or gross negligence in the handling of Town funds;
3. Willful or wanton destruction to Town property;
4. Conduct which may give the appearance of a conflict of interest or impropriety;
5. Professional misconduct;
6. Falsification of records for personal profit, to grant special privileges, or to obtain 

employment;
7. Participation in any action that would in any way disrupt or disturb the normal operation 

of the department, or cause disharmony or strife within the department, division or work 
unit;

8. Willful or wanton acts that endanger the lives and property of others while on duty with 
the Town;

9. Possession of unauthorized firearms or dangerous weapons on the job; 
10. Stated refusal to perform assigned duties or flagrant violation of work rules and 

regulations; 
11. Refusal to accept a reasonable and proper assignment from an authorized supervisor 

(insubordination);
12. Reporting to work under the influence of alcohol or drugs or partaking of such while on 

duty;
13. Request or acceptance of gifts in exchange for favors or influence;
14. Betrayal of information from official records that are allowed by law or policy to be 

confidential or to be released by specified persons; 
15. Engaging in other employment which represents a conflict of interest or reflects discredit 

on the town;
16. Willful violations of Federal/State law or regulations or Town policies;
17. Violence or other aggressive, threatening, intimidating, bullying or other disruptive 

behaviors whether by means of communication devices or by mean of physical visits to 
the grounds or home of the targeted individual, for the purpose of harassing an individual;

18. Fraud, theft, or other illegal activities;
19. Engaging in any action that would in any way seriously disrupt or disturb the normal 

operations of the Town;
20. Violation of the Town’s policies prohibiting sexual harassment, unlawful discrimination, 

retaliation, workplace violence, and/or substance abuse;

A Town employee who is guilty of any of the above infractions may be reprimanded, demoted, 
suspended, or terminated, depending on the severity of the infraction. 

ARTICLE IX.  SEPARATION AND REINSTATEMENT

DRAFT
eaea

agrant agran

assignment from assignment 

f alcohol or drugs or paf alcohol or drugs or p

xchange for favors or inange for fa
icial records that are icial records t

by specified persons; y specified persons
ent which represents a which represents a 

deral/State law or reguderal/State law o
aggressive, threateninaggressive, threate

er by means of commuby means of commu
home of the targeted inof the targeted in

, or other illegal activitie, or other illegal a
g in any action that g in any action that wow
ns of the Town;ns of the Town;
of the Town’s polof the Town’s p

orkplace vioorkplace vio



38

Section 1.  Types of Separations

All separations of employees from positions in the service of the Town shall be designated as one of 
the following types and shall be accomplished in the manner indicated:  Resignation, reduction in force, 
voluntary retirement, dismissal, or death.

Section 2.  Resignation

An employee may resign by submitting the reasons for resignation and the effective date in writing to 
the immediate supervisor as far in advance as possible.  In all instances, the minimum notice 
requirement is two (2) weeks from non-exempt employees and four (4) weeks is expected from exempt 
employees.  Failure to provide minimum notice shall result in forfeit of payment for accumulated annual 
leave unless the notice is waived upon recommendation of the department head and approval by the 
Town Manager.

Three consecutive days of absence without contacting the immediate supervisor or department head 
may be considered to be a voluntary resignation.  Sick leave will only be approved during the final two 
weeks of a notice with a physician’s certification or comparable documentation.

Section 3.  Reduction in Force

Reduction in force is the involuntary separation of an employee due to lack of work or funds, outsourcing 
of services, decreased workload or elimination of the employee’s position due to reorganization. In the 
event that a reduction in force becomes necessary, consideration shall be given to the quality of each 
employee’s performance, organization needs, and seniority in determining those employees to be 
retained.  Employees who are separated because of a reduction in force shall be given at least two 
weeks notice of the anticipated action.  No regular employee shall be separated because of a reduction 
in force while there are temporary or probationary employees serving in the same class in the 
department, unless the regular employee is not willing to transfer to the position held by the temporary 
or probationary employee.

Section 4.  Voluntary Retirement

An employee who meets the conditions set forth under the provision of the North Carolina Local 
Governmental Employee’s Retirement System may elect to retire and receive all benefits earned under 
the retirement plan.

Section 5.  Death

Separation shall be effective as of the date of death.  All compensation due shall be paid to the estate 
of the employee.

Section 6.  Dismissal

An employee may be dismissed in accordance with the provisions and procedures of Article VIII.

Section 7.  Reinstatement

DRAFT
diate sdiate 

ill only be apill onl
ble documentationle docume

FTmployee d

AFof the employe

AFssary, consideratioAFand seniority in 

RAd because of a reduc

RA.  No regular em

RAry or probationary RAmployee is not willing 

DRDRDRRetirement

s the conditionss the conditio
Retirement SRetirement 



39

An employee who is separated because of reduction in force may be reinstated within one year of the 
date of separation, upon recommendation of the department head, and upon approval of the Town
Manager.  An employee who is reinstated in this manner shall be credited with his or her previously 
accrued sick leave.

Section 8.  Rehiring

An employee who resigns while in good standing may be rehired with the approval of the Town
Manager, and shall be regarded as a new employee, subject to all of the provisions of rules and 
regulations of this Policy.  An employee in good standing who is separated due to a reduction in force 
shall be given the first opportunity to be rehired in the same or a similar position.

ARTICLE X.  GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE AND ADVERSE ACTION APPEAL



40

Section 1.  Policy

The Town is committed to providing employees with an effective and responsive grievance process. 
The purpose of this article is to outline the procedure and to assure all employees that a response to 
their complaints and grievances will be prompt and fair. Employees utilizing the grievance procedure 
shall not be subjected to retaliation or any form of harassment from supervisors or employees for 
exercising their rights under this policy. Supervisors or other employees who violate this policy shall be 
subject to disciplinary action up to and including dismissal from Town service.

Section 2.  Grievance Defined

A grievance is a complaint by an employee based upon an event or condition within control of the Town 
which adversely affects the circumstances under which an employee works, allegedly caused by 
misinterpretation, unfair application, or lack of established policy pertaining to employment conditions. 
An employee filing a grievance should be actually or potentially adversely affected by the condition or 
event being grieved. Disciplinary demotions or terminations of employment fall under the grievance 
procedure.

Section 3.  Purpose of the Grievance Procedure

The purpose of the grievance procedure is to provide a fair and equitable process for an employee to 
have concerns heard without fear of retaliation when complaints cannot be resolved through more 
informal discussions.  Employees are encouraged to resolve problems informally through normal 
channels.  This policy outlines the Town’s process to allow prompt and fair methods of resolving 
employee problems without reprisal and to create a work environment free on continuing conflicts.

All employees, including supervisors and department heads, are expected to discuss their problems 
and misunderstandings with their supervisors. Open, two-way communication is a proven factor in 
reducing and resolving grievances.

The establishment of this procedure shall in no way remove the right of the Town government to do the 
following, provided, that none of these rights may be exercised in an arbitrary or capricious manner:

1) Direct the work of its employees;

2) Hire, promote, transfer, and assign employees;

3) Demote or dismiss employee for cause;

4) Maintain the efficiency of governmental operations;

5) Relieve employees from duty because of lack of work or other legitimate reasons;

6) Determine the methods, means, and personnel necessary to carry out operations.

Section 4.  Grievance Complaints

DRAFT
tata

dversedvers
f employmef emp

vide a fair and equitablea fair and
n when complaints cann when comp

ouraged to resolve prouraged to resolve 
’s process to allow prrocess to allow p

 to create a work enviroto create a work envir

ors and department heors and department
eir supervisors. Open, r supervisors. Open,

nces.

s procedure shall in no s procedure shall in n
t none of these rightst none of these rights

mployees;mployees;



41

Complaints filed under this policy will be handled with the utmost confidentiality and should not be 
shared with others.  Information involving complaints will only be disclosed on a limited and need to 
know basis.  

Grievances may be filed regarding complaints on the following:

1) Alleged unfair disciplinary actions;

2) Acts of retaliation as a result of reporting any actions of violation of Town, State or Federal laws;

1) Safety or health matters regarding physical facilities or equipment;

2) Alleged unfair treatment by fellow workers or supervisor;

3) Allegation of discrimination against any employee on the basis of age, sex, race, color, religion, 
national origin, disability, political affiliation, sexual orientation, marital status, veteran status, 
political affiliation, disability, genetic information, on the basis of actual or perceived gender identity 
or expression, or other protected class.  

4) Any other grievance related to conditions of employment so long as said conditions are not those 
established by law or the Town Council.

Section 5.  Grievance Procedure 

When an employee has a grievance, the following successive steps are to be taken unless otherwise 
provided. The number of calendar days indicated for each step should be considered the maximum and 
every effort should be made to expedite the process.  However, the time limits set forth may be 
extended by mutual consent.  

Informal Resolution.  Prior to the submission of a formal grievance, the employee and supervisor 
should meet to discuss the problem and seek to resolve it informally. This is to ensure that the supervisor 
knows about and has had the opportunity to consider and investigate the problem and to resolve the 
problem informally before the formal grievance process is initiated. Either the employee or the 
supervisor may involve the respective Department Head as a resource to help resolve the grievance. 
Most misunderstandings will be clarified and resolved during this free exchange of viewpoints. In 
addition, the employee or supervisor may request mediation from a local mediation service or other 
qualified parties to resolve the conflict, upon approval of the Town Manager. Mediation is the process 
where a neutral party assists the parties in conflict with identifying mutually agreeable solutions or 
understandings.

Step 1.  If no resolution to the grievance is reached informally, the employee who wishes to pursue a 
grievance shall present the grievance to the Department Head in writing within fifteen calendar days of 
the event or with fifteen calendar days of learning of the event or condition.  The grievance should 
contain the following: the decision, action, or policy the employee does not agree with, on what basis 
the action is wrong or unfair, and the proposed resolution the employee is seeking. 

The Department Head shall respond to the grievance stating the determination of decision within fifteen 
calendar days after receipt of the grievance. A copy of the Step 1 response will be sent to the Human 
Resources Director. The Department Head should, and is encouraged to, consult with any employee 

of the Town in order to reach a correct, impartial, fair and equitable determination or decision concerning 
the grievance. Any employee consulted by the supervisor is required to cooperate to the fullest extent 

DRAFT
oo

tion, mtion, 
is of actual ois of a

yment so long as said yment so long as sai

ollowing successive stewing successive st
ndicated for each step ndicated for each step 

edite the process.  Hedite the proces

to the submission of ae submission of a
problem and seek to resproblem and see

ad the opportunity to cad the opportunity to 
fore the formal grievfore the formal griev

he respective Dehe respective D
ill be clarifiill be clarif

pervisoperviso



42

possible.

Step 2.  If the grievance is not resolved to the to the satisfaction of the employee by the Department 
Head, the employee may appeal in writing to the Town Manager within fifteen calendar days after receipt 
of the response from Step 1.  The Town Manager shall respond to the appeal stating the determination 
of decision in writing within a period of 21 calendar days after receipt of the appeal.  The Town 
Manager’s decision shall be the final decision. The Town Manager should notify the Town Council of 
any impending legal action.

In the case of Department Head grievances, or other employees where the Town Manager has been 
significantly involved in determining disciplinary action, including dismissal, the Town Manager may 
wish to obtain a neutral outside party to act as a mediator to assist in resolving or investigating the 
conflict.  In this event, the Town Manager shall promptly notify the employee in writing of the Town 
Manager’s decision to engage an outside party.  

Filing a lawsuit or seeking any other administrative remedy against the Town while one has grievance 
pending on the same issue will end their appeal under the Town’s grievance procedures.

Nothing in this policy is intended to discourage or prevent an employee or former employee from filing 
a formal charge of discrimination or other illegal action with the appropriate State or Federal agency 
having jurisdiction.

ARTICLE XI.  RECORDS AND REPORTS

DRAFT
st the Tst the

n’s grievancen’s gr

an employee or formean employee or
n with the appropriate S with the appropriate



43

Section 1.  Public Information

In compliance with GS 160A-168, the following information with respect to each Town employee is a 
matter of public record: 

1) Name 
2) Age
3) Date of original employment or appointment to the service 
4) The terms of any contract by which the employee is employed whether written or oral, past and 

current, to the extent that the Town has the written contract or a record of the oral contract in its 
possession

5) Current position
6) Title
7) Current salary 
8) Date and amount of each increase or decrease in salary with the Town
9) Date and type of each promotion, demotion, transfer, suspension, separation, or other change 

in position classification with the Town
10) Date and general description of the reasons for each promotion with the Town
11) Date and type of each dismissal, suspension, or demotion for disciplinary reasons take by the 

Town.  If the disciplinary action was a dismissal, a copy of the written notice of the final decision 
of the Town setting forth the specific acts or omissions that are the basis of the dismissal.

12) The office to which the employee is currently assigned.  

The term “salary” includes pay, benefits, incentives, bonuses, and deferred and all other forms of 
compensation paid by the Town. 

Any person may have access to this information for the purpose of inspection, examination, and 
copying, during regular business hours, subject only to such rules and regulations for the safekeeping 
of public records as the Town may adopt.

Section 2.  Access to Confidential Records

All information contained in a Town employee’s personnel file, other than the information mentioned 
above, is confidential, and shall be open to inspection only in the following instances:

1) The employee or his/her duly authorized agent may examine all portions of his/her personnel file 
except letters of reference solicited prior to employment, and information concerning a medical 
disability, mental or physical, that a prudent physician would not divulge to the patient.

2) A licensed physician designated in writing by the employee may examine the employee’s medical 
record.

3) A Town employee having supervisory authority over the employee may examine all material in the 
employee’s personnel file.

4) By order of a court of competent jurisdiction, any person may examine all material in the employee’s 
personnel file.

5) An official of an agency of the State or Federal Government, or any political subdivision of the State, 
may inspect any portion of a personnel file when such inspection is deemed by the Town Manager 
to be necessary and essential to the pursuit of a proper function of the inspecting agency, but no 

DRAFT
thth

pensionpensi

promotion with thpromotion 
emotion for disciplinaemotion for disc

 a copy of the written no a copy of the written
missions that are the bmissions that are the b

tly assigned.  ssigned.  

centives, bonuses, anentives, bonuses,

is information for the is information fo
ours, subject only to suours, subject only to

ay adopt.y adopt.

nfidential Recordsnfidential Reco

ed in a Town employed in a Town employ
d shall be open td shall be open

duly auduly au



44

information shall be divulged for the purpose of assisting in a criminal prosecution of the employee, 
or for the purpose of assisting in an investigation of the employee’s tax liability. However, the official 
having custody of the personnel records may release the name, address, and telephone number 
from a personnel file for the purpose of assisting in a criminal investigation.

6) An employee may sign a written release to be placed in his/her personnel file that permits the record 
custodian to provide, either in person, by telephone, or by mail, information specified in the release 
to prospective employers, educational institutions, or other persons specified in the release.

7) The Town Manager, with the concurrence of the Town Council, may inform any person of the 
employment, nonemployment, promotion, demotion, suspension or other disciplinary action, 
reinstatement, transfer, or termination of a Town employee, and the reasons for that action.  Before 
releasing that information, the Town Manager shall determine in writing that the release is essential 
to maintaining the level and quality of Town services.  The written determination shall be retained 
in the Town Manager'’ office, is a record for public inspection, and shall become a part of the 
employee'’ personnel file.

Section 3.  Personnel Actions

The Town Manager will prescribe necessary forms and reports for all personnel actions and will retain 
records necessary for the proper administration of the personnel system. There shall be one set of 
official personnel files, centrally located as designated by the Town Manager. Any document not located 
there is not an official part of that employee’s personnel record. These files shall contain documents 
such as employment applications and related materials, records of personnel actions, documentation 
of employee warnings, disciplinary actions, performance evaluations, retirement and insurance records, 
letters of recommendation, and other personnel-related documents.

Section 4.  Records of Former Employees

The provisions for access to records apply to former employees as they apply to present employees.

Section 5.  Records of Applicants

Applicants and other information gathered with respect to an applicant will be kept confidential in 
accordance with GS 160A-168.  The Town will not release this information without written permission 
from the applicant.

Section 6.  Remedies of Employees Objecting to Material in File

An employee who objects to material in his/her file may place a statement in the file relating to the 
material considered being inaccurate or misleading.  The employee may seek removal of such material 
in accordance with established grievance procedures.

Section 7.  Penalties for Permitting Access to Confidential Records

Section 160A-168 of the General Statutes provides that any public official or employee who knowingly 
and willfully permits any person to have access to any confidential information contained in any

employee personnel file, except as expressly authorized by the designated custodian, is guilty of a 
misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be fined in an amount consistent with the General Statutes.

DRAFT
 a a

reports for all personnreports for all person
the personnel systemhe personnel system

ted by the Town Managby the Tow
personnel record. Thespersonnel reco

d materials, records of materials, records
performance evaluatioormance evaluatio

ersonnel-related documrelated docum

EmployeesEmployees

records apply to formers apply to former

f Applicantsf Applicants

ormation gathereormation gathe
168.  The T168.  The T



45

Section 8.  Examining and/or Copying Confidential Material without Authorization

Section 160A-168 of the General Statutes of North Carolina provides that any person, not specifically 
authorized to have access to a personnel file designated as confidential, who shall knowingly and 
willfully examine in its official filing place, remove or copy any portion of a confidential personnel file 
shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be fined consistent with the General Statutes.

Section 9.  Destruction of Records Regulated

No public official may destroy, sell, loan, or otherwise dispose of any public record, except in accordance 
with GS 121.5, without the consent of the State Department of Cultural Resources.  Whoever 
unlawfully removes a public record from the office where it is usually kept, or whoever, alters, defaces, 
mutilates or destroys it will be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction will be fined in an amount 
provided in Chapter 132.3 of the General Statutes.

ARTICLE XII.  TRAVEL

Section 1.  Use of Town Owned Vehicle

DRAFT



46

Where a position requires the driving of a town-owned motor vehicle, the employee must have the 
appropriate valid driver’s license and a good driving record.  The Town of Lewisville provides insurance 
for Town vehicles. Employees are expected to drive safely and courteously and abide by North Carolina 
laws.  The use of tobacco products in the Town vehicle is prohibited. Employees are responsible for 
reporting changes in the status of their driver’s license to the Town Manager. 

The use of seat belts is required for all occupants of a Town-owned vehicle, Town equipment where 
seat belts are provided, and non-Town owned vehicles used for Town of Lewisville business. The 
operator must ensure that all occupants use seat belts at all times. Vehicles shall not be used for 
personal business and no one other than Town employees will be transported without authorization of 
the Town Manager. 

In the event of an accident, the driver of a Town vehicle may be subject to drug testing within eight 
hours of the accident. 

Section 2.  Vehicle Allowance

Certain positions may require extensive local travel in the conduct of official Town business.  Positions 
identified and approved by the Town Council will be provided a Town vehicle or vehicle allowance.  The 
allowance can be approved at the beginning of each fiscal year or be approved on a case-by-case basis 
by the Town Council and the allowance rates may be established as a schedule of the annual budget 
ordinance. Officials receiving a vehicle allowance shall not receive mileage reimbursement when 
traveling within the state to attend training, seminars, and the like. Employees receiving a vehicle 
allowance are responsible for providing proof of liability insurance.

Section 3.  Seminars and Training

Employee travel to local, state or national seminars and formal training (off site classroom training such 
as Institute of Government Courses, NCLM sponsored seminars, courses purchased directly by the 
Town from private or public sources, etc.) must be approved in advance by the Town Manager. Approval 
for travel is contingent upon the availability of funds and the needs of the Town. A comparison will be 
made of the different modes of travel (car, plane, etc.) and the most advantageous alternative chosen. 
Overnight travel allowances and reimbursements will be based on a Lodging Plus Per Diem basis. 
Authorized travelers will be reimbursed for the full cost of overnight lodging accommodations plus the 
meal rates established as a schedule to the annual budget ordinance. Partial day per diem will be based 
on meal rate deductions which will be determined by the time of departure from and return to Lewisville. 
The departure and return times are 7:00 AM, 12:00 Noon, and 6:00 PM. Departure before these times 
and return after these times determine if a meal rate should be deducted from the authorized per diem. 
Meals provided by the sponsor of a conference or meeting will result in the comparable meal rate 
deduction. The traveler is required to report meals provided or consumed in flight when traveling by air. 
Employees must complete a Town Travel Reimbursement claim form to obtain a refund. Lodging 
receipts, airline tickets, and other claims for reimbursement must be attached to the claim form.

ARTICLE XIII.  IMPLEMENTATION OF POLICIES

Section 1. Conflicting Policies Repealed

DRAFTconduct of official Towconduct of officia
vided a Town vehicle or vided a Town vehicle o

fiscal year or be approvscal year or be approv
y be established as a sestablish

ance shall not receiveance shall not 
 seminars, and the likseminars, and the

oof of liability insurancef liability insurance

gg

or national seminars annational seminars an
Courses, NCLM sponsCourses, NCL

c sources, etc.) must bec sources, etc.) mu
upon the availability ofupon the availability o
odes of travel (car, podes of travel (c

es and reimbues and reimb
eimburseeimburse

eduledul



47

All policies, ordinances, or resolutions that conflict with the provisions of these policies are hereby 
repealed.

Section 2. Separability

If any provision of these policies or any rule, regulation, or order hereunder of the application of such 
provision to any person or circumstances is held invalid, the remainder of these policies and the 
application of such remaining provisions of these policies of such rules, regulations, or orders to persons 
or circumstances other than those held invalid will not be affected thereby.

Section 3.  Amendments

This policy may be amended by action of the Town Council and by resolution appropriately approved. 
Any revisions or amendments adopted in conformance with this procedure shall become effective as 
of the date of such adoption. 

Notice of any amendment to the policy or any portion thereof, shall be provided to employees.  
Adopted amendments should be posted on bulletin Boards in employee work locations, emailed to 
employees, and/or placed in employee newsletters.  

------------ End of Policy -------------

Adopted Ordinance March 14, 1994; Amendment 1 adopted August 4, 1994; 
Ordinance repealed 8 May1997; Adopted Revised Policy May 8, 1997;

Adopted Revised Policy December 14, 2000; Adopted Revised Policy December 13, 2001;
Adopted Revised Policy March 14, 2002

Adopted Revised Policy September 11, 2003
Adopted Revised Policy November 7, 2013

Adopted Revised Policy June 9, 2016
Adopted Revised Policy October 6, 2016

Adopted Revised Policy February 11, 2021
Adopted Revised Policy June 8, 2023

DRAFT
cece

ereof, shall be pereof, sha
ds in employee workds in employee

------------------------ End of PoEnd of Po

dinance Marcdinance Marc
epealedepealed

DD


	04-10-2025 Agenda
	01 - 2025-011 - Res - Financials
	02 - 03-06-2025 TC Briefing Minutes
	03 - 03-13-2025 TC Meeting Minutes
	04 -2025-008 - Ord - Budget Amend - Paving
	05 - 2025-012 - Res - Paving Contract
	06 - 2025-013 - Res - Revising Personnel Policy
	2025-013 - Res - Revising Personnel Policy
	Personnel Policy - 2025 - DRAFT




